
SOUTHERN GROVE 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

DISTRICT NOS. 1-10 

PORT ST. LUCIE  
REGULAR BOARD MEETING 

  
FEBRUARY 7, 2024 

10:30 A.M. 

Special District Services, Inc. 
The Oaks Center 

2501A Burns Road 
Palm Beach Gardens, FL 33410 

www.southerngrovecdd1.org 
www.southerngrovecdd2.org 
www.southerngrovecdd3.org 
www.southerngrovecdd4.org 
www.southerngrovecdd5.org 
www.southerngrovecdd6.org 
www.southerngrovecdd7.org 
www.southerngrovecdd8.org 
www.southerngrovecdd9.org 
www.southerngrovecdd10.org 

561.630.4922 Telephone 
877.SDS.4922 Toll Free
561.630.4923 Facsimile

http://www.southerngrovecdd1.org/
http://www.southerngrovecdd2.org/
http://www.southerngrovecdd3.org/
http://www.southerngrovecdd4.org/
http://www.southerngrovecdd5.org/


AGENDA 
SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO.’s 1-10 

Tradition Town Hall  
10799 SW Civic Lane 

OR 
Join Zoom Meeting: 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/3341025011?omn=85386137435 
Meeting ID: 334 102 5011 
Dial In at: 1 929 436 2866  
Port St. Lucie, FL  34987 

REGULAR BOARD MEETING 
February 7, 2024 

10:30 a.m. 
 

A. Call to Order 

B. Proof of Publication…………………………………………………………………………….....Page 1 

C. Establish Quorum 

D. Seat New Board Members /Administer Oath of Office / Appointment to Board Vacancies /  
Resolution No. 2024-01; Election of Officers……………………………………………………Page 2 

E. Additions or Deletions 

F. Comments from the Public Not on the Agenda  

G. Consent Items 

1. Approval of November 1st, 2023, Regular Board Meeting Minutes…………………….……Page 9 

2. Approve and Ratify WA # 19-144-212; Plat 45………………………………………………Page 13 

3. Approve and Ratify WA # 19-144-213; Hegener Drive Extension………………………..…Page 15 

4. Approve and Ratify 2022 Bond Requisition (No. 15); District No. 5 Special Assessment Bonds,  
Series 2022-1 (Community Infrastructure)……………………………………………………Page 17 

5. Approve and Ratify 2022 Bond Requisition (No. 16); District No. 5 Special Assessment Bonds,  
Series 2022-1 (Community Infrastructure)……………………………………………………Page 28 

6. Approve and Ratify 2022 Bond Requisition (No. 17); District No. 5 Special Assessment Bonds,  
Series 2022-1 (Community Infrastructure)……………………………………………………Page 39 

H. Old Business 

I. New Business 

1. Consider Engagement Letter for Bond Counsel and Disclosure Counsel Representation of  
Southern Grove CDD No.5 (2024 Bonds)…………………………………………………….Page 50 

2. Consider Memo No. 24-01; Voting Conflict of Interest-Supervisors Who (1) are Employed by 
Or Affiliated with Owner of Developers of Lands Within the Districts, (2) are Elected by  
Landowners, and (3) are Not Employees of a Public Agency Landowner……………………Page 58 

3. Consider Approval of Stars and Strips Park Improvement and Art Donation Agreement……Page 63 

4. Consider Approval of Assignment of Site Contractor Agreement to Southern Grove CDD 
No. 5; Marshall Parkway 3 (2022 Projects)……………………………………………………Page 86 

5. Consider Approval of Drainage and Irrigation Easement; Southern Grove CDD No. 5……...Page 155 

J. Administrative Matters 

1. Manager’s Report 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/3341025011?omn=85386137435
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/3341025011?omn=85386137435


2. Attorney’s Report 

3. Engineer’s Report 

4. Financial Report 

5. Founder’s Report 

K. Board Member Comments 

L. Adjourn  



SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NOS. 1-10 
FISCAL YEAR 2023/2024 

REGULAR BOARD MEETING SCHEDULE 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Southern Grove Community Development District Nos. 1-10 
(“Districts”) will conduct Regular Board Meetings of the Board of Supervisors (“Board”) for the 
purpose of conducting the business of the Districts that may properly come before the Board.  The 
following meetings will be held at 10:30 a.m. at Tradition Town Hall located at 10799 SW Civic Lane, 
Port St. Lucie, Florida 34987 on the following dates: 

*October 4, 2023*
November 1, 2023
December 6, 2023
*January 3, 2024*
February 7, 2024

March 6, 2024 
*April 3, 2024*

May 1, 2024
June 5, 2024

*July 3, 2024*
August 7, 2024

September 4, 2024 

*Irrigation Rate Committee Meeting – 9:00 a.m.
Southern Grove CDD Meeting – 10:30 a.m.

Tradition CDD Meeting – 11:00 a.m. 

*An Irrigation Committee Meeting will take place at 9:00 a.m. at Tradition Town Hall located at
10799 SW Civic Lane, Port St. Lucie, Florida 34987 on the above dates, as indicated.*

The meetings are open to the public and will be conducted in accordance with the provisions of Florida 
law for community development districts.  Meetings may be continued to a date, time and place to be 
specified on the record.  A copy of the agenda for the meetings may be obtained from the Districts’ 
websites or at the offices of the District Manager, Special District Services, Inc., 10807 SW Tradition 
Square, Port St. Lucie, Florida. 

There may be occasions when one or more Supervisors will participate by telephone; therefore, a 
speaker telephone may be present at the meeting location so that one or more Supervisors may attend 
the meeting and be fully informed of the discussions taking place.  

Any person requiring special accommodations at these meetings because of a disability or physical 
impairment should contact the District Office at 772-345-5119 and/or toll free at 1-877-737-4922 at 
least five calendar days prior to the meeting.  If you are hearing or speech impaired, please contact the 
Florida Relay Service at 1-800-955-8770, who can aid you in contacting the District Office. 

Each person who decides to appeal any action taken at a meeting is advised that they will need a record 
of the proceedings and that accordingly, the person may need to ensure that a verbatim record of the 
proceedings is made, including the testimony and evidence upon which such appeal is to be based. 

Meetings may be cancelled from time to time without advertised notice. 

SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NOS. 1-10 

www.southerngrovecdd1.org 

PUBLISH:  ST. LUCIE NEWS TRIBUNE    09/25/23 1



RESOLUTION 2024- 01 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
DESIGNATING THE OFFICERS OF SOUTHERN GROVE 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 1, AND 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, the Southern Grove Community Development District 1 (the “District”), is a 
local unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida 
Statues, being situated entirely within the St. lucie County, Florida; and 

WHEREAS, the initial supervisors have taken and subscribed to the oath of office per F.S. 
190.006(4); and 

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors (hereinafter the “Board”) now desires to organize 
by designating the Officers of the District per F.S. 190.006(6). 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD 
OF SUPERVISORS OF SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 1: 

1. The following persons are elected to the offices shown, to wit:

_____________________ Chairperson 

William Pittsley Vice-Chairperson  

B. Frank Sakuma, Jr. Secretary/Treasurer 

Steven Dassa Assistant Secretary 

Tara Toto Assistant Secretary 

Ricardo Mojico Assistant Secretary 

2. This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption.

PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 7th DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2024. 

ATTEST: SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 1 

_____________________________ 
Secretary / Assistant Secretary Chairperson 

2



RESOLUTION 2024- 01 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
DESIGNATING THE OFFICERS OF SOUTHERN GROVE 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 2, AND 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Southern Grove Community Development District 2 (the “District”), is a 
local unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida 
Statues, being situated entirely within the St. Lucie County, Florida; and 
 WHEREAS, the initial supervisors have taken and subscribed to the oath of office per F.S. 
190.006(4); and 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors (hereinafter the “Board”) now desires to organize 
by designating the Officers of the District per F.S. 190.006(6). 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD 
OF SUPERVISORS OF SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 2: 

 
 1.  The following persons are elected to the offices shown, to wit: 
 
 _____________________ Chairperson 

 William Pittsley Vice-Chairperson  

 B. Frank Sakuma, Jr. Secretary/Treasurer 

 Steven Dassa Assistant Secretary 

 Tara Toto Assistant Secretary 

 Ricardo Mojico Assistant Secretary 

 2.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 
 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 7th DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2024. 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST: SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY  
 DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 2 
 
 
 
 
_____________________________   
Secretary / Assistant Secretary Chairperson 

3



RESOLUTION 2024-01 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
DESIGNATING THE OFFICERS OF SOUTHERN GROVE 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 3, AND 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Southern Grove Community Development District 3 (the “District”), is a 
local unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida 
Statues, being situated entirely within the St. lucie County, Florida; and 
 WHEREAS, the initial supervisors have taken and subscribed to the oath of office per F.S. 
190.006(4); and 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors (hereinafter the “Board”) now desires to organize 
by designating the Officers of the District per F.S. 190.006(6). 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD 
OF SUPERVISORS OF SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 3: 

 
 1.  The following persons are elected to the offices shown, to wit: 
 
 ______________________ Chairperson 

 David Graham Assistant Secretary 

 B. Frank Sakuma, Jr. Secretary/Treasurer 

 Steven Dassa Vice-Chairperson 

 Jennifer Davis Assistant Secretary 

 Ricardo Mojica Assistant Secretary 

 2.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 
 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 7th DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2024. 
 
ATTEST: SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY  
 DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 3 
 
 
 
 
_____________________________   
Secretary / Assistant Secretary Chairperson 

4



RESOLUTION 2024-01 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
DESIGNATING THE OFFICERS OF SOUTHERN GROVE 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 4, AND 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Southern Grove Community Development District 4 (the “District”), is a 
local unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida 
Statues, being situated entirely within the St. lucie County, Florida; and 
 WHEREAS, the initial supervisors have taken and subscribed to the oath of office per F.S. 
190.006(4); and 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors (hereinafter the “Board”) now desires to organize 
by designating the Officers of the District per F.S. 190.006(6). 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD 
OF SUPERVISORS OF SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 4: 

 
 1.  The following persons are elected to the offices shown, to wit: 
 
 Jennifer Davis Chairperson 

 Ricardo Mojica Vice-Chairperson  

 B. Frank Sakuma, Jr. Secretary/Treasurer 

 David Graham Assistant Secretary 

 __________________ Assistant Secretary 

 __________________ Assistant Secretary 

 2.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 
 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 7th DAY OF FEBRUARY 2024. 
 
ATTEST: SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY  
 DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 4 
 
 
 
 
_____________________________   
Secretary / Assistant Secretary Chairperson 

5



RESOLUTION 2024-01 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
DESIGNATING THE OFFICERS OF SOUTHERN GROVE 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 5, AND 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Southern Grove Community Development District 5 (the “District”), is a 
local unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida 
Statues, being situated entirely within the St. lucie County, Florida; and 
 WHEREAS, the initial supervisors have taken and subscribed to the oath of office per F.S. 
190.006(4); and 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors (hereinafter the “Board”) now desires to organize 
by designating the Officers of the District per F.S. 190.006(6). 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD 
OF SUPERVISORS OF SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 5: 

 
 1.  The following persons are elected to the offices shown, to wit: 
 
 __________________ Chairperson 

 William Pittsley Vice-Chairperson  

 B. Frank Sakuma, Jr. Secretary/Treasurer 

 Steven Dassa  Assistant Secretary 

 __________________ Assistant Secretary 

 __________________ Assistant Secretary 

 2.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 
 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 7th DAY OF FEBRUARY 2024. 
 
ATTEST: SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY  
 DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 5 
 
 
 
 
_____________________________   
Secretary / Assistant Secretary Chairperson 

6



RESOLUTION 2024-01 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
DESIGNATING THE OFFICERS OF SOUTHERN GROVE 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 6, AND 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Southern Grove Community Development District 6 (the “District”), is a 
local unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida 
Statues, being situated entirely within the St. lucie County, Florida; and 
 WHEREAS, the initial supervisors have taken and subscribed to the oath of office per F.S. 
190.006(4); and 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors (hereinafter the “Board”) now desires to organize 
by designating the Officers of the District per F.S. 190.006(6). 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD 
OF SUPERVISORS OF SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 6: 

 
 1.  The following persons are elected to the offices shown, to wit: 
 
 Jennifer Davis Chairperson 

 Ricardo Mojica Vice-Chairperson  

 B. Frank Sakuma, Jr. Secretary/Treasurer 

 David Graham Assistant Secretary 

 __________________ Assistant Secretary 

 __________________ Assistant Secretary 

 2.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 
 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 7th DAY OF February, 2024. 
 
ATTEST: SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY  
 DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 6 
 
 
 
 
_____________________________   
Secretary / Assistant Secretary Chairperson 

7



RESOLUTION 2024- 01 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
DESIGNATING THE OFFICERS OF SOUTHERN GROVE 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 9, AND 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Southern Grove Community Development District 9 (the “District”), is a 
local unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida 
Statues, being situated entirely within the St. Lucie County, Florida; and 
 WHEREAS, the initial supervisors have taken and subscribed to the oath of office per F.S. 
190.006(4); and 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors (hereinafter the “Board”) now desires to organize 
by designating the Officers of the District per F.S. 190.006(6). 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD 
OF SUPERVISORS OF SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 9: 

 
 1.  The following persons are elected to the offices shown, to wit: 
 
 ______________________ Chairperson 

 William Pittsley Vice-Chairperson  

 B. Frank Sakuma, Jr. Secretary/Treasurer 

 Tara Toto Assistant Secretary 

 Steven Dassa Assistant Secretary 

 Ricardo Mojica Assistant Secretary 

 2.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 
 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 7th DAY OF February 2024. 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST: SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY  
 DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 9 
 
 
 
 
_____________________________   
Secretary / Assistant Secretary Chairperson 

8



SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO.’S 1-10 
Tradition Town Hall  
10799 SW Civic Lane 

OR 
Join Zoom Meeting: 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/3341025012 
Meeting ID: 334 102 5012 
Dial In at: 1 929 436 2866  
Port St. Lucie, FL  34987 

REGULAR BOARD MEETING 
November 1, 2023 

10:30 a.m. 
        
 

A. CALL TO ORDER 
 
The Regular Board Meeting of the Southern Grove Community Development District No’s. 1-10 of  
November 1st,2023, was called to order at 10:37 a.m. in the Tradition Town Hall located at 10799 SW 
Civic Lane, Port St. Lucie, Florida 34987. 
 
B. PROOF OF PUBLICATION 
 
Proof of publication was presented that showed notice of the Regular Board Meeting had been 
published in the St. Lucie News Tribune on September 25th, 2023, as legally required.   
 
C. ESTABLISH A QUORUM 
 
It was determined that the attendance of the following Supervisors constituted a quorum in District 
Nos. 1,2&9, and it was in order to proceed with the meeting: There was no quorum in District Nos. 
3,4,5,6,7,8&10. 
 
CDD #’s 1-10   
Chairman/ Supervisor Frank Covelli: #1,2,3,5,9  Absent 
Supervisor  Ricardo Mojica: #1,2,3,4,6,9  Present 
Supervisor / Vice Chair Steven Dassa: #1,2,3,5,9 Present 
Supervisor  William Pittsley: #1,2,5,9  Absent  
Supervisor / Vice Chair David Graham: #3,4,5,6,7,8,10 Absent 
Supervisor Stephen Okiye: #4,7,8,10  Via Zoom  
Supervisor Tara Toto: #1,2,9 Present 
Chairman/Supervisor  Jennifer Davis: #3,4,6,7,8,10   Via Zoom 
Supervisor Elijah Wooten: #7,8,10 Via Zoom 
Supervisor Jeff Greenwalt : #7,8,10   Via Zoom 

 
Staff members in attendance were:  
 
District Manager B. Frank Sakuma, Jr.  Special District Services, Inc. 
Assistant District Manager Jessica Wargo Special District Services, Inc. 
District Manager Andrew Karmeris Special District Services, Inc. 
District Engineer Kelly Cranford Culpepper and Terpening 

9

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/3341025012


District Counsel  Susan Garrett  Torcivia, Donlon, Goddeau & 
Rubin, P.A. 

 
Also present were: District Engineer, Gabriel Gomez with Culpepper and Terpening. 
(See attached sign-in sheet) 
 
D. SEAT NEW BOARD MEMBERS/ADMINISTER OATH OF OFFICE 
 
A Motion was made by CDD No. 1 Ms. Dassa, seconded by Mr. Mojica and passed unanimously to 
Appoint William Pittsley to District No. 1/Seat 1; District No. 2/Seat 1; District No. 5/Seat 4; District 
No. 9/Seat 2. 
 
Mr. Pittsley was unavailable to take the Oath. The meeting continued. 
 
E. ADDITIONS OR DELETIONS TO AGENDA 
 
Staff requested (5) items be added under New Business: 
 
1 – (I-4) WA #19-144-112.1; Telaro at Southern Grove Mod 

2 – (I-5) WA #19-144-164; Kenley SG4C 

3 – (I-6) WA #19-144-211; Tom Mackie Blvd and Marshall Blvd – Fiber  

4 – (I-7) WA #19-144-205.1; Dragonfly Industrial Park 

5 – (I-8) WA #5-41-1118-PS; Review of Mattamy SG2 – Manderlie  

A Motion was made by CDD No. 1 Mr. Dassa, seconded by Mr. Mojica and passed unanimously by 
CDD No. 1 to Adopt the agenda as amended.  
 
F. COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC FOR DISTRICT ITEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA 
 
There were no comments from the public. 
 
G. CONSENT ITEMS 
 

1. September 6th, 2023, Regular Board Meeting & Public Hearing Minutes 

2. WA # 19-143-210; SLCFD Fire Station #20 

3. WA # 19-144-211; Tom Mackie Blvd & Marshall Blvd – Fiber 

4. 2022 Bond Requestion (No. 14); District No. 5 Special Assessment Bonds, Series 
      2022-1 (Community Infrastructure) 

A Motion was made by CDD No. 1 Mr. Dassa seconded by Mr. Mojica and passed unanimously by 
CDD No. 1 to Approve all item(s) under Consent.  

 
H. OLD BUSINESS 
 
There were no matters of old business to come before the Board. 
 
I. NEW BUSINESS 

 

10



1. Resolution No. 2023-25 for District Nos.1-10; Adopting Fiscal Year 2022/2023 
Final Amended Budget  

Resolution No. 2023-25 was presented, entitled: 
 

                                                              RESOLUTION NO. 2023-25 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE SOUTHERN 
GROVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NOS. 1-10 
AUTHORIZING AND ADOPTING AN AMENDED FINAL FISCAL YEAR 
2022/2023 BUDGET, PURSUANT TO CHAPTER 190, FLORIDA STATUTES; 
AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
A Motion was made by CDD No. 1 Mr. Dassa, seconded by Mr. Mojica and passed unanimously by 
CDD No. 1 to Adopt Resolution No. 2023-25. 

 

2. Appointment to Board Vacancies 

Appointments were made at the beginning of the meeting under section D. 
            

3. Resolution No. 2023-22; Election of Officers 

Resolution No. 2023-22 was presented, entitled: 
 

           RESOLUTION NO. 2023-22 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
DESIGNATING THE OFFICERS OF SOUTHERN GROVE 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 7, 8, & 10 AND 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 

No action was taken. 
 

4. (Addition) WA #19-144-112.1; Telaro at Southern Grove Mod 
 

5. (Addition) WA #19-144-164; Kenley SG4C 
 

6. (Addition) WA #19-144-211; Tom Mackie Blvd and Marshall Blvd – Fiber  
 

7. (Addition) WA #19-144-205.1; Dragonfly Industrial Park 
 

8.  (Addition) WA #5-41-1118-PS; Review of Mattamy SG2 – Manderlie  
 

A Motion was made by CDD No. 1 Mr. Dassa seconded by Mr. Mojica and passed unanimously by 
CDD No. 1 to Approve New Business Nos. 4,5,6,7,&8. 

 
J.     ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS 
 

1. Manager’s Report 
 
Mr. Sakuma had nothing further to report.  

11



 
2. Attorney’s Report 

 
Ms. Garrett had no further report. 
 

3. Engineer’s Report 
 

Ms. Cranford had nothing further to report. 
 

4. Financial Report 
 
Mr. Karmeris had nothing further to report. 

 
5. Founder’s Report  

 
The Founder offered no report. 
 
K. BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS 
 
There were no Board comments. 
 
L. ADJORNMENT 
 
There being no further business to come before the Boards, Mr. Dassa adjourned the meeting at 
10:45a.m. 
 
_________________________________ ____________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary   Chair/Vice-Chair 
 
_________________________________ ____________________________________ 
Print Signature    Print Signature  

12



 

 

Southern Grove Community Development District 
BOARD AGENDA ITEM 

Board Meeting Date: February 7, 2024 
 

 
Subject:   SG - Southern Grove Plat 45  
 Work Authorization No.  WA-19-144-212 
 C&T Project No. 19-144.SG7.001.1123.W 
  
Background: 

On November 20, 2023, the Southern Grove CDD Engineer received an 
application for a Work Authorization to replat 378.65 acres previously platted 
under Southern Grove Plat 43.  This plat includes dedications Southern Grove 
CDD 5 (WMT-1, WMT-2, WMT-3, and a 20-ft wide water management 
easement).  

 
Recommended Action: 

Ratify the CDD Chairman’s authorization to sign the plat on behalf of the 
Southern Grove CDD 5.  

 
Location:  Tradition Community Development District CDD.07  

 
Within Tradition Irrigation Service Area? Yes, Tier 3 

 
Fiscal Information:   This project does not include infrastructure dedicated to the CDD.  It is not 

expected to impact the CDD Stormwater System operational budget. 
 
Grant Related?  No  
Additional Comments: None 
 
Board Action: 
Moved by: Seconded by:  Action Taken: 
 
 
 
 
Item Prepared by: Kelly E Cranford, PE          January 26, 2024                    

13



14



 

 

Southern Grove Community Development District 
BOARD AGENDA ITEM 

Board Meeting Date: February 7, 2024 
 

 
Subject:   SG - Hegener Drive Extension  
 Work Authorization No.  WA-19-144-213 
 C&T Project No. 19-144.SG7.002.1223.W 
  
Background: 

On December 23, 2023, the Southern Grove CDD Engineer received a Work  
Authorization application for connecting a new extension of Hegner Drive (4.27 
acres of City right-of-way) to the Southern Grove master stormwater system.   
None of the proposed infrastructure will be dedicated to or maintained  
by the CDD. 

 
Recommended Action: 

Ratify the CDD Engineer's approval of the proposed project connecting to the Southern 
Grove Master Stormwater System

 
 
Location:  Southern Grove Community Development District CDD.07  

 
Within Tradition Irrigation Service Area? Yes, Tier 3 

 
Fiscal Information:   This project does not include infrastructure dedicated to the CDD.  It is not 

expected to impact the CDD Stormwater System operational budget. 
 
Grant Related?  No  
Additional Comments: None 
 
Board Action: 
Moved by: Seconded by:  Action Taken: 
 
 
 
 
Item Prepared by: Kelly E Cranford, PE          January 26, 2024                    

15



16



1 
 

2022 ACQUISITION AND CONSTRUCTION ACCOUNT REQUISITION 

  
REQUISITION NO.__15__ 

 
SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 5  

 
SPECIAL ASSESSMENT BONDS, SERIES 2022-1 

(COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE) 

and 

SPECIAL ASSESSMENT BONDS, SERIES 2022-2 

(COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE) (FEDERALLY TAXABLE) 

 
 

The undersigned, a Responsible Officer of Southern Grove Community Development 
District No. 5 (the “Issuer”) hereby submits the following requisition for disbursement from the 
2022 Acquisition and Construction Account created under and pursuant to the terms of the Master 
Trust Indenture from the Issuer to U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association, as trustee (the 
“Trustee”), dated December 17, 2014, as supplemented by that certain Eighth Supplemental 
Indenture, dated as of December 1, 2022 (collectively, the “Indenture”), (all capitalized terms used 
herein shall have the meaning ascribed to such terms in this Indenture); 
 

(A) Requisition Number: 15 

 
(B) Name of Payee: Guettler Brothers Construction LLC 

 
(C) Amount Payable: $350,603.18 

 
The undersigned hereby certifies that (check the applicable box in 1. below): 
 

1. This requisition is for a Cost of the 2022-1 CI Project payable from the 2022-1 
Acquisition and Construction Subaccount and does not include any Cost related to 
the TIM Project  __X_____ 

 
AND/OR 
 
This requisition is for a Cost of the 2022-2 CI Project payable from the 2022-2 
Acquisition and Construction Subaccount _______ 

 
AND 
 

2. Each disbursement set forth above is a proper charge against the 2022-1 Acquisition 
and Construction Subaccount or the 2022-2 Acquisition and Construction 
Subaccount, as applicable.   
 

[Include if applicable] 
 

17



2 

Each disbursement set forth above is made as payment of a portion of the purchase price 
for the 2022-1 CI Project or 2022-2 CI Project, as applicable, or repayment of advances for 2022-
2 CI Project, in either case, pursuant to a written agreement between the District and the other 
party named therein receiving payment and the undersigned represents that such agreement has 
not been modified or amended and is in full force and effect on the date hereof. 

SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 5  

By:  
Responsible Officer 

Date:______11.7.23______________________________ 

The undersigned, an authorized representative of the Consulting Engineer to the Issuer, 
hereby certifies that this disbursement is for a Cost of the 2022-1 CI Project and/or 2022-2 CI 
Project, as applicable, and is consistent with:  (i) the applicable acquisition or construction 
contract; (ii) the plans and specifications for the portion of the 2022-1 CI Project and/or 2022-2 CI 
Project, as applicable, with respect to which such disbursement is being made; and (iii) the 
Engineer’s Report as supplemented and amended through the date hereof. 

The undersigned further certifies that (a) the improvements to be acquired with this 
disbursement will be (1) owned by the Issuer or another governmental entity and located on public 
property or within public rights of way or easements and (2) accessible by the general public and/or 
part of a public water management system; (b) the purchase price to be paid by the Issuer for the 
improvements to be acquired with this disbursement is no more than the lesser of (i) the fair market 
value of such improvements and (ii) the actual cost of construction of such improvements; (c) the 
plans and specifications for the improvements have been approved by all regulatory bodies 
required to approve them or such approval can reasonably be expected to be obtained; (d) all 
currently required approvals and permits for the acquisition, construction, reconstruction, 
installation and equipping of the portion of the 2022-1 CI Project and/or 2022-2  CI Project for 
which disbursement is made have been obtained from all applicable regulatory bodies; and (e) 
subject to permitted retainage under the applicable contracts, the seller has paid all contractors, 
subcontractors, and materialmen that have provided services or materials in connection with the 
portions of the 2022-1 CI Project and/or 2022-2 CI Project for which disbursement is made hereby, 
if acquisition or reimbursement is being made pursuant to an agreement.  

[CONSULTING ENGINEER] 

By:  
Name:   
Title: 
Date: 

Butch Terpening
District Engineer

November 7, 2023

18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



1 

2022 ACQUISITION AND CONSTRUCTION ACCOUNT REQUISITION 

REQUISITION NO.__16__ 

SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 5 

SPECIAL ASSESSMENT BONDS, SERIES 2022-1 

(COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE) 

and 

SPECIAL ASSESSMENT BONDS, SERIES 2022-2 

(COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE) (FEDERALLY TAXABLE) 

The undersigned, a Responsible Officer of Southern Grove Community Development 
District No. 5 (the “Issuer”) hereby submits the following requisition for disbursement from the 
2022 Acquisition and Construction Account created under and pursuant to the terms of the Master 
Trust Indenture from the Issuer to U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association, as trustee (the 
“Trustee”), dated December 17, 2014, as supplemented by that certain Eighth Supplemental 
Indenture, dated as of December 1, 2022 (collectively, the “Indenture”), (all capitalized terms used 
herein shall have the meaning ascribed to such terms in this Indenture); 

(A) Requisition Number: 16

(B) Name of Payee: Guettler Brothers Construction LLC

(C) Amount Payable: $114,362.26

The undersigned hereby certifies that (check the applicable box in 1. below): 

1. This requisition is for a Cost of the 2022-1 CI Project payable from the 2022-1
Acquisition and Construction Subaccount and does not include any Cost related to
the TIM Project  __X_____

AND/OR

This requisition is for a Cost of the 2022-2 CI Project payable from the 2022-2
Acquisition and Construction Subaccount _______

AND

2. Each disbursement set forth above is a proper charge against the 2022-1 Acquisition
and Construction Subaccount or the 2022-2 Acquisition and Construction
Subaccount, as applicable.

[Include if applicable] 

28



2 

Each disbursement set forth above is made as payment of a portion of the purchase price 
for the 2022-1 CI Project or 2022-2 CI Project, as applicable, or repayment of advances for 2022-
2 CI Project, in either case, pursuant to a written agreement between the District and the other 
party named therein receiving payment and the undersigned represents that such agreement has 
not been modified or amended and is in full force and effect on the date hereof. 

SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 5  

By:  
Responsible Officer 

Date:_____11.22.23_______________________________ 

The undersigned, an authorized representative of the Consulting Engineer to the Issuer, 
hereby certifies that this disbursement is for a Cost of the 2022-1 CI Project and/or 2022-2 CI 
Project, as applicable, and is consistent with:  (i) the applicable acquisition or construction 
contract; (ii) the plans and specifications for the portion of the 2022-1 CI Project and/or 2022-2 CI 
Project, as applicable, with respect to which such disbursement is being made; and (iii) the 
Engineer’s Report as supplemented and amended through the date hereof. 

The undersigned further certifies that (a) the improvements to be acquired with this 
disbursement will be (1) owned by the Issuer or another governmental entity and located on public 
property or within public rights of way or easements and (2) accessible by the general public and/or 
part of a public water management system; (b) the purchase price to be paid by the Issuer for the 
improvements to be acquired with this disbursement is no more than the lesser of (i) the fair market 
value of such improvements and (ii) the actual cost of construction of such improvements; (c) the 
plans and specifications for the improvements have been approved by all regulatory bodies 
required to approve them or such approval can reasonably be expected to be obtained; (d) all 
currently required approvals and permits for the acquisition, construction, reconstruction, 
installation and equipping of the portion of the 2022-1 CI Project and/or 2022-2  CI Project for 
which disbursement is made have been obtained from all applicable regulatory bodies; and (e) 
subject to permitted retainage under the applicable contracts, the seller has paid all contractors, 
subcontractors, and materialmen that have provided services or materials in connection with the 
portions of the 2022-1 CI Project and/or 2022-2 CI Project for which disbursement is made hereby, 
if acquisition or reimbursement is being made pursuant to an agreement.  

[CONSULTING ENGINEER] 

By:  
Name:   
Title: 
Date: 

JP "Butch"Terpening

District Engineer

November 22, 2023

29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



1 
 

2022 ACQUISITION AND CONSTRUCTION ACCOUNT REQUISITION 

  
REQUISITION NO.__17__ 

 
SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 5  

 
SPECIAL ASSESSMENT BONDS, SERIES 2022-1 

(COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE) 

and 

SPECIAL ASSESSMENT BONDS, SERIES 2022-2 

(COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE) (FEDERALLY TAXABLE) 

 
 

The undersigned, a Responsible Officer of Southern Grove Community Development 
District No. 5 (the “Issuer”) hereby submits the following requisition for disbursement from the 
2022 Acquisition and Construction Account created under and pursuant to the terms of the Master 
Trust Indenture from the Issuer to U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association, as trustee (the 
“Trustee”), dated December 17, 2014, as supplemented by that certain Eighth Supplemental 
Indenture, dated as of December 1, 2022 (collectively, the “Indenture”), (all capitalized terms used 
herein shall have the meaning ascribed to such terms in this Indenture); 
 

(A) Requisition Number: 17 

 
(B) Name of Payee: Guettler Brothers Construction LLC 

 
(C) Amount Payable: $727,723.08 

 
The undersigned hereby certifies that (check the applicable box in 1. below): 
 

1. This requisition is for a Cost of the 2022-1 CI Project payable from the 2022-1 
Acquisition and Construction Subaccount and does not include any Cost related to 
the TIM Project  __X_____ 

 
AND/OR 
 
This requisition is for a Cost of the 2022-2 CI Project payable from the 2022-2 
Acquisition and Construction Subaccount _______ 

 
AND 
 

2. Each disbursement set forth above is a proper charge against the 2022-1 Acquisition 
and Construction Subaccount or the 2022-2 Acquisition and Construction 
Subaccount, as applicable.   
 

[Include if applicable] 
 

39



2 

Each disbursement set forth above is made as payment of a portion of the purchase price 
for the 2022-1 CI Project or 2022-2 CI Project, as applicable, or repayment of advances for 2022-
2 CI Project, in either case, pursuant to a written agreement between the District and the other 
party named therein receiving payment and the undersigned represents that such agreement has 
not been modified or amended and is in full force and effect on the date hereof. 

SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 5  

By:  
Responsible Officer 

Date:____12.7.23________________________________ 

The undersigned, an authorized representative of the Consulting Engineer to the Issuer, 
hereby certifies that this disbursement is for a Cost of the 2022-1 CI Project and/or 2022-2 CI 
Project, as applicable, and is consistent with:  (i) the applicable acquisition or construction 
contract; (ii) the plans and specifications for the portion of the 2022-1 CI Project and/or 2022-2 CI 
Project, as applicable, with respect to which such disbursement is being made; and (iii) the 
Engineer’s Report as supplemented and amended through the date hereof. 

The undersigned further certifies that (a) the improvements to be acquired with this 
disbursement will be (1) owned by the Issuer or another governmental entity and located on public 
property or within public rights of way or easements and (2) accessible by the general public and/or 
part of a public water management system; (b) the purchase price to be paid by the Issuer for the 
improvements to be acquired with this disbursement is no more than the lesser of (i) the fair market 
value of such improvements and (ii) the actual cost of construction of such improvements; (c) the 
plans and specifications for the improvements have been approved by all regulatory bodies 
required to approve them or such approval can reasonably be expected to be obtained; (d) all 
currently required approvals and permits for the acquisition, construction, reconstruction, 
installation and equipping of the portion of the 2022-1 CI Project and/or 2022-2  CI Project for 
which disbursement is made have been obtained from all applicable regulatory bodies; and (e) 
subject to permitted retainage under the applicable contracts, the seller has paid all contractors, 
subcontractors, and materialmen that have provided services or materials in connection with the 
portions of the 2022-1 CI Project and/or 2022-2 CI Project for which disbursement is made hereby, 
if acquisition or reimbursement is being made pursuant to an agreement.  

[CONSULTING ENGINEER] 

By:  
Name:   
Title: 
Date: 

J.P. "Butch" Terpening
District Engineer
December 7, 2023

40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



 

 
 
 
777 South Flagler Drive | Suite 1900, West Tower | West Palm Beach, FL 33401 | T 561.833.2000 
Holland & Knight LLP | www.hklaw.com 

Denise J. Ganz 
561 650-8340 
denise.ganz@hklaw.com 
 

 

 
January 19, 2024 

Southern Grove Community Development District No. 5 
c/o District Manager 
Port St. Lucie, Florida 
Attention: B. Frank Sakuma, Jr. 

Re: Bond Counsel and Disclosure Counsel Representation of Southern Grove 
Community Development District No. 5 (the “District”) 

Dear Frank: 

As always, we appreciate the opportunity to represent the District. This letter will address 
our engagement as bond counsel and disclosure counsel to the District in connection with the 
District’s proposed Special Assessment Bonds, Series 2024 (the “2024 Bonds”). Any future 
financing for which H&K provides services to the District and/or the Administration District will 
be subject to a separate engagement letter. This letter also addresses certain additional matters. 

 General 

To facilitate (i) my transition from Greenspoon Marder LLP (“GM”) and your agreement 
to transfer files to Holland & Knight LLP (“H&K”) relating to bond counsel and disclosure 
counsel services previously provided by GM to the District and/or Southern Grove Community 
Development District No. 1 (the “Administration District”) on various prior financings and 
related matters (the “Prior Financings”) and (ii) matters that may arise unrelated to a particular 
new financing for which H&K is engaged as counsel by the District (the “Interim Matters”), we 
are opening a matter which reflects the District as a client of H&K and to which we can file 
emails and documents transferred to H&K by GM relating to the District and the Administration 
District. In the event the District and/or the Administration District requests H&K to render 
services in connection with the Interim Matters, our fees will be billed at standard hourly rates 
then in effect, together with any out of pocket costs. Attached to this letter are our firm’s 
standard terms of engagement.  Please review these and let me know if you have any questions. 

2024 Bonds—Bond Counsel Services 

Bond Counsel’s role, generally, is to document a tax-exempt bond transaction structured 
by the District and to render an objective legal opinion with respect to the authorization and 
issuance of those obligations. Our services as Bond Counsel in connection with the 2024 Bonds 
will include the following: 

50



(1) Subject to our review, to our satisfaction, of executed closing documents, 
certificates and opinions of legal counsel rendered by other parties to the transaction, render our 
legal opinion (the “Bond Opinion”) regarding the validity and binding effect of the 2024 Bonds, 
the source of payment and security for the 2024 Bonds, and stating that, under existing law, 
interest on the 2024 Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes and is 
not an item of tax preference for purposes of the alternative minimum tax under the Internal 
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), however, for tax years beginning after 
December 31, 2022, such interest component is included in the adjusted financial statement 
income of certain applicable corporations that are subject to the alternative minimum tax under 
the Code. Our supplemental opinion as Bond Counsel rendered on the date of issuance of the 
2024 Bonds will be addressed to the District and the underwriter of the 2024 Bonds and will 
state that the 2024 Bonds are exempt from registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as 
amended, and that the Master Trust Indenture, as supplemented in connection with the 2024 
Bonds,  is exempt from qualification under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939. 

(2) Prepare and review documents necessary or appropriate to the authorization, 
issuance and delivery of the 2024 Bonds, including resolutions, a supplemental trust indenture, 
State of Florida filings, and federal tax filings of the Form 8038-G and coordinate the 
authorization and execution of such documents, and review enabling legislation. 

(3) Examination of applicable law. 

(4) Consultation with the parties and their respective legal counsel prior to the 
issuance of the 2024 Bonds. 

(5) Preparation and/or review of (i) the basic documents authorizing and providing 
for the issuance and payment of the 2024 Bonds and (ii) the forms of such closing documents, 
certificates and opinions of counsel as we deem necessary to render our Bond Opinion. 

(6) Review and provide recommendations, if any, on certified proceedings relating to 
the 2024 Bonds and performance of such additional reasonable duties by the appropriate parties 
as are necessary to render our Bond Opinion. 

Our Bond Opinion (or applicable reliance opinion) will be addressed to the District, the 
underwriter of the 2024 Bonds and the trustee for the 2024 Bonds, and will be delivered by us on 
the date the 2024 Bonds are exchanged for their purchase price (the “Closing”). 

The Bond Opinion will be based on facts and law existing as of its date. In rendering our 
Bond Opinion, we will rely upon the certified proceedings and other certifications of public 
officials and other persons furnished to us without undertaking to verify the same by independent 
investigation, and we will assume continuing compliance by the District with applicable laws 
relating to the 2024 Bonds.     

51



With respect to the 2024 Bonds, our bond counsel fee is $60,000, together with actual 
out-of-pocket costs, which we estimate will not exceed $1,500. Our bond counsel fee is 
contingent upon the closing of the 2024 Bonds. In the event the 2024 Bonds are issued, our bond 
counsel fee will be due and payable at the time of the Closing.   

 
2024 Bonds—Disclosure Counsel Services 

In our capacity as disclosure counsel, our primary responsibility will be to prepare the 
offering document pursuant to which the 2024 Bonds are marketed by the underwriter thereof, 
assist in a due diligence review in connection with the offering document, and render customary 
objective legal opinions to the effect that, subject to customary qualifications, the offering 
document did not as of its date contain an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a 
material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in the light 
of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading (excluding the District’s 
financial statements, the financial, statistical and demographic data, and the information relating 
to the book-entry only system of registration, as to which no opinion will be expressed). 

 
With respect to the 2024 Bonds, our disclosure counsel fee is $50,000, contingent upon 

the closing of the 2024 Bonds. In the event the 2024 Bonds are issued, our disclosure counsel fee 
will be due and payable at the time of the Closing.   

 
Matters Relating to U.S. Bank National Trust Company, National Association 
 
We are also requesting, as part of this letter, that the District waive the potential conflict 

of interest with respect to (1) the representation by H&K of the District in connection with the 
Prior Financings and any future financings of the District (collectively, the “Financings”) 
involving U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association, including affiliates and subsidiaries 
thereof (collectively, the “Conflict Party”), as trustee, paying agent and bond registrar in 
connection with the Financings, and (2) H&K’s representation of the Conflict Party as trustee, 
paying agent and bond registrar in connection with the Financings and in matters unrelated to the 
Financings. The applicable ethics rules permit us to represent clients with adverse or potentially 
adverse interests in circumstances where we will be able to provide competent and diligent 
representation to each client, and each client gives us informed consent, confirmed in writing.  
We hereby confirm to you that after fully disclosing to you the circumstances of this matter, we 
are able to provide competent an diligent representation to the District and the Conflict Party.  
We further confirm to you that the Conflict Party has provided H&K with an advance conflict 
waiver for transactional matters such as this. H&K will also, at all times, observe the attorney-
client privilege between it and each of its clients and will preserve the confidentiality of each 
client’s respective information.  

 

52



If the foregoing terms of our engagement are acceptable, please so indicate by signing 
this letter and return it to me by scan.  If you have any questions regarding this letter please do 
not hesitate to call me. 

Sincerely yours, 
HOLLAND & KNIGHT LLP 

 
Denise J. Ganz 

DLG/lcm 
#238363107_v2 

APPROVED AND AGREED TO: 

SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 5 

By:  
Name:   
Title:     
Date: 

53



HOLLAND & KNIGHT LLP 

TERMS OF ENGAGEMENT 

We appreciate your decision to retain Holland & Knight LLP as your legal counsel.   

This document explains how we work, our obligations to you, your obligations to us, what we will do on your 
behalf, and how our charges will be determined and billed.  Experience has shown that an understanding of 
these matters will contribute to a better relationship between us, and that in turn makes our efforts more 
productive.  

Our engagement and the services that we will provide to you are limited to the matter identified in the 
accompanying letter.  Any changes in the scope of our representation as described in the letter must be approved 
in writing.  We will provide services of a strictly legal nature related to the matters described in that letter.  You 
will provide us with the factual information and materials we require to perform the services identified in the 
letter, and you will make such business or technical decisions and determinations as are appropriate.  You will 
not rely on us for business, investment, or accounting decisions, or expect us to investigate the character or 
credit of persons or entities with whom you may be dealing, unless otherwise specified in the letter. 

We cannot guarantee the outcome of any matter.  Any expression of our professional judgment regarding your 
matter or the potential outcome is, of course, limited by our knowledge of the facts and based on the law at the 
time of expression.  It is also subject to any unknown or uncertain factors or conditions beyond our control. 

Confidentiality and Related Matters 

Regarding the ethics of our profession that will govern our representation, several points deserve emphasis.  As 
a matter of professional responsibility, we are required to hold confidential all information relating to the 
representation of our clients, subject to certain exceptions that we will discuss with you.   This professional 
obligation and the legal privilege for attorney-client communications exist to encourage candid and complete 
communication between a client and his lawyer.  We can perform truly beneficial services for a client only if we 
are aware of all information that might be relevant to our representation.  Consequently, we trust that our 
attorney-client relationship with you will be based on mutual confidence and unrestrained communication that 
will facilitate our proper representation of you.   

Additionally, you should be aware that, in instances in which we represent a corporation or other entity, our 
client relationship is with the entity and not with its individual executives, shareholders, directors, members, 
managers, partners, or persons in similar positions, or with its parent, subsidiaries, or other affiliates.  In those 
cases, our professional responsibilities are owed only to that entity, alone, and no conflict of interest will be 
asserted by you because we represent persons with respect to interests that are adverse to individual persons or 
business organizations who have a relationship with you.  That is to say, unless the letter accompanying this 
document indicates otherwise, Holland & Knight’s attorney-client relationship with the entity does not give rise 
to an attorney-client relationship with the parent, subsidiaries or other affiliates of the entity,  and 
representation of the entity in this matter will not give rise to any conflict of interest in the event other clients of 
the firm are adverse to the parent, subsidiaries or other affiliates of the entity.  Of course, we can also represent 
individual executives, shareholders, directors, members, managers, partners, and other persons related to the 
entity in matters that do not conflict with the interests of the entity, but any such representation will be the 
subject of a separate engagement letter.  Similarly, when we represent a party on an insured claim, we represent 
the insured, not the insurer, even though we may be approved, selected, or paid by the insurer. 

The firm attempts to achieve efficiencies and savings for its clients by managing the firm’s administrative 
operations (e.g., file storage, document duplication, word processing, accounting/billing) in the most efficient 
manner possible, including outsourcing certain functions to third parties.  Outsourcing in this manner may 
require the firm to allow access by third parties to your confidential information, and in some cases, these third 
parties may be located outside the United States. The firm will follow applicable legal ethics rules with regard to 
such outsourcing and protection of confidential information. 

Fees and Billing 

Clients frequently ask us to estimate the fees and other charges they are likely to incur in connection with a 
particular matter.  We are pleased to respond to such requests whenever possible with an estimate based on our 

54



professional judgment.  This estimate always carries the understanding that, unless we agree otherwise in 
writing, it does not represent a maximum, minimum, or fixed fee quotation.  The ultimate cost frequently is 
more or less than the amount estimated. 

Legal Fees.  We encourage flexibility in determining billing arrangements.  For example, we often agree with our 
clients to perform services on a fixed-fee or other basis that we and the client believe will encourage efficiency 
and reflect the value of our services in relation to a particular objective.   

If you and we have agreed on a fixed fee arrangement, our fees will not be limited to the fixed amount if you fail 
to make a complete and accurate disclosure of information that we have requested and that we reasonably 
require for our work, or if you materially change the terms, conditions, scope, or nature of the work, as described 
by you when we determined the fixed amount.  If any of these events occurs, our fees will be based upon the 
other factors described below, unless you and we agree on a revised fixed fee. 

If the accompanying engagement letter does not provide for a fixed fee, or if we do not otherwise confirm to you 
in writing a fee arrangement, our fees for services will be determined as described in the following paragraphs. 

When establishing fees for services that we render, we are guided primarily by the time and labor required, 
although we also consider other appropriate factors, such as the novelty and difficulty of the legal issues 
involved; the legal skill required to perform the particular assignment; time-saving use of resources (including 
research, analysis, data and documentation) that we have previously developed and stored electronically or 
otherwise in quickly retrievable form; the fee customarily charged by comparable firms for similar legal services; 
the amount of money involved or at risk and the results obtained; and the time constraints imposed by either 
you or the circumstances.  In determining a reasonable fee for the time and labor required for a particular 
matter, we consider the ability, experience, and reputation of the lawyer or lawyers in our firm who perform the 
services.  To facilitate this determination, we internally assign to each lawyer an hourly rate based on these 
factors.   Of course, our internal hourly rates change periodically to account for increases in our cost of 
delivering legal service, other economic factors, and the augmentation of a particular lawyer’s ability, 
experience, and reputation.  Any such changes in hourly rates are applied prospectively, as well as to unbilled 
time previously expended.  We record and bill our time in one-tenth hour (six minute) increments.   

When selecting lawyers to perform services for you, we generally seek to assign lawyers having the lowest hourly 
rates consistent with the skills, time demands, and other factors influencing the professional responsibility 
involved in each matter.  That does not mean that we will always assign a lawyer with a lower hourly rate than 
other lawyers.  As circumstances require, the services of lawyers in the firm with special skills or experience may 
be sought when that will either (a) reduce the legal expense to you, (b) provide a specialized legal skill needed, or 
(c) help move the matter forward more quickly.  Also, to encourage the use of such lawyers in situations where 
their services can provide a significant benefit that is disproportionate to the time devoted to the matter, we may 
not bill for their services on an hourly rate basis but, if you agree in advance, we will adjust the fee on an “added 
value” basis at the conclusion of the matter if and to the extent their services contribute to a favorable result for 
you.   

Disbursements.  In addition to legal fees, our statements will include out-of-pocket expenses that we have 
advanced on your behalf and our internal charges (which may exceed direct costs and allocated overhead 
expenses) for certain support activities.  Alternatively, the firm may charge for such internal charges as a 
percentage of the fees charged.  Advanced expenses generally will include, but are not limited to, such items as 
travel, postage, filing, recording, certification, and registration fees charged by governmental bodies.  Our 
internal charges typically include, but are not limited to, such items as toll calls, facsimile transmissions, 
overnight courier services, certain charges for terminal time for computer research and complex document 
production, and charges for photocopying materials sent to the client or third parties or required for our use.   

We may request an advance cost deposit when we expect that we will be required to incur substantial costs on 
behalf of the client.  

During the course of our representation, it may be appropriate to hire third parties to provide services on your 
behalf.  These services may include such things as consulting or testifying experts, investigators, providers of 
computerized litigation support, and court reporters.  Because of the legal “work product” protection afforded to 
services that an attorney requests from third parties, in certain situations our firm may assume responsibility for 
retaining the appropriate service providers.  Even if we do so, however, you will be responsible for paying all fees 
and expenses directly to the service providers or reimbursing us for these expenses. 

55



The firm attempts to achieve efficiencies and savings for its clients when dealing with independent contractors.  
The firm may be able to obtain a reduced charge from the contractor if the firm provides certain functions, such 
as billing, collection, equipment, space, facilities, or clerical help.  For these administrative and coordination 
services, the firm may charge an administrative fee, which will be separately disclosed to you. 

Billing. We bill periodically throughout the engagement for a particular matter, and our periodic statements are 
due when rendered.   If our fees are based primarily on the amount of our time devoted to the matter, our 
statements will be rendered monthly.   In instances in which we represent more than one person with respect to 
a matter, each person that we represent is jointly and severally liable for our fees and expenses with respect to 
the representation.  Our statements contain a concise summary of each matter for which legal services are 
rendered and a fee is charged. 

If a statement remains unpaid for more than 30 days, you will be contacted by an H&K representative inquiring 
why it is unpaid.  Additionally, if a statement has not been paid within 30 days from its date, the firm may 
impose an interest charge of 1.25 percent per month (a 15 percent annual percentage rate) from the 30th day 
after the date of the statement until it is paid in full.  Interest charges apply to specific monthly statements on an 
individual statement basis.  Any payments made on past due statements are applied first to the oldest 
outstanding statement. 

It is the firm’s policy that if an invoice remains unpaid for more than 90 days, absent extraordinary 
circumstances and subject to legal ethics constraints, H&K’s representation will cease, and you hereby authorize 
us to withdraw from all representation of you.   Any unapplied deposits will be applied to outstanding balances.  
Generally, the firm will not recommence its representation or accept new work from you until your account is 
brought current and a new deposit for fees and costs, in an amount that the firm determines, is paid to it.   

In addition, if you do not pay H&K’s statements as they become due, the firm may require a substantial partial 
payment and delivery of an interest-bearing promissory note as part of any arrangement under which it may, in 
its discretion, agree to continue its representation.  Any such promissory note will serve merely as evidence of 
your obligation, and shall not be regarded as payment. 

If allowed by applicable law, H&K is entitled to reasonable attorneys’ fees and court costs if collection activities 
are necessary.  In addition, H&K shall have all general, possessory, or retaining liens, and all special or charging 
liens, recognized by law.   

Payment of our fees and costs is not contingent on the ultimate outcome of our representation, unless we have 
expressly agreed in writing to a contingent fee.  

Questions About Our Bills. We invite you to discuss freely with us any questions that you have concerning a fee 
charged for any matter.  We want our clients to be satisfied with both the quality of our services and the 
reasonableness of the fees that we charge for those services.  We will attempt to provide as much billing 
information as you require and in such customary form that you desire, and are willing to discuss with you any 
of the various billing formats we have available that best suits your needs.   

Relationships with Other Clients 

Because we are a large, full-service law firm with offices located in various cities we may be (and often are) asked 
to represent a client with respect to interests that are adverse to those of another client who is represented by 
the firm in connection with another matter.  Just as you would not wish to be prevented in an appropriate 
situation from retaining a law firm that competes with Holland & Knight LLP, our firm wishes to be able to 
consider the representation of other persons or entities that may be competitors in your industry or who may 
have interests that are adverse to yours, but with respect to matters that are unrelated in any way to our 
representation of you.  The ethics that govern us permit us to accept such multiple representations, assuming 
certain conditions are met, as set forth below. 

During the term of this engagement, we will not accept representation of another client to pursue interests that 
are directly adverse to your interests unless and until we make full disclosure to you of all the relevant facts, 
circumstances, and implications of our undertaking the two representations, and confirm to you in good faith 
that we have done so and that the following criteria are met:  (i) there is no substantial relationship between any 
matter in which we are representing or have represented you and the matter for the other client; (ii) any 
confidential information that we have received from you will not be available to the lawyers and other Holland & 
Knight LLP personnel involved in the representation of the other client;  (iii) our effective representation of you 
and the discharge of our professional responsibilities to you will not be prejudiced by our representation of the 

56



other client; and (iv) the other client has also consented in writing based on our full disclosure of the relevant 
facts, circumstances, and implications of our undertaking the two representations.  If the foregoing conditions 
are satisfied, we may undertake the adverse representation and all conflict issues will be deemed to have been 
resolved or waived by you. 

By making this agreement, we are establishing the criteria that will govern the exercise of your right under 
applicable ethical rules to object to our representation of another client whose interests are adverse to yours.  If 
you contest in good faith the facts underlying our confirmation to you that the specified criteria have been met, 
then we will have the burden of reasonably supporting those facts. 

Knowledge Management Tool 

In order to better and more economically serve our clients, we have implemented a document search engine that 
will allow us to search the firm’s institutional work product to determine whether there exist documents created 
for one client that can be used as a starting point for the preparation of new documents for other clients.  
Documents that are subject to ethics wall restrictions, have extraordinary confidentiality requirements, or 
contain sensitive client information will not be included in this system. 

Termination 

Upon completion of the matter to which this representation applies, or upon earlier termination of our 
relationship, the attorney-client relationship will end unless you and we have expressly agreed to a continuation 
with respect to other matters.  We hope, of course, that such a continuation will be the case.  The representation 
is terminable at will by either of us.  The termination of the representation will not terminate your obligation to 
pay fees and expenses incurred prior to the termination and for any services rendered or disbursements 
required to implement the transition to new counsel. 

* * * * * 

Your agreement to this engagement constitutes your acceptance of the foregoing terms and conditions.  If any of 
them is unacceptable to you, please advise us now so that we can resolve any differences and proceed with a 
clear, complete, and consistent understanding of our relationship. 

 

57



58



59



60



61



62



Prepared By and return to: 
Fox McCluskey Bush Robison, PLLC 
Attn: Tyson Waters, Esq. 
3461 SE Willoughby Blvd. 
Stuart, Florida 34994 
File Number: MA303-0001 
 
 

STARS AND STRIPES PARK IMPROVEMENT AND ART 
DONATION AGREEMENT 

 
 
Attachments: 
Exhibit “A” – Stars and Stripes Park Property 
Exhibit “B” – Project Scope  
Exhibit “C” – Artwork 
Exhibit “D” – Warranty of Title for Artwork   
 
 
 THIS PARK IMPROVEMENT AND ART DONATION AGREEMENT 
(“Agreement”) is made and entered into on this ____ day of _______________, 2024 (“Effective 
Date”) by and between MATTAMY PALM BEACH, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company 
(“MATTAMY”), the CITY OF PORT ST. LUCIE, a Florida Municipal Corporation (“CITY”), 
and the SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 5, a community 
development district organized and existing under Chapter 190, Florida Statutes (the 
“SOUTHERN GROVE CDD NO. 5”).  MATTAMY, CITY and the SOUTHERN GROVE CDD 
NO. 5 are each sometimes referred to as a “Party” and collectively as the “Parties”. 
 

RECITALS 
 
 WHEREAS, the CITY owns, operates, and maintains parks and recreational facilities, 
within the City of Port St. Lucie; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the property described on Exhibit “A” attached to this Agreement and made 
a part hereof is intended to be developed as a parks and recreational site (the “Stars and Stripes 
Park Property”); and 
 

WHEREAS, the CITY and the SOUTHERN GROVE CDD NO. 5 own or hold an interest 
in the Stars and Stripes Park Property; and   

 
WHEREAS, the SOUTHERN GROVE CDD NO. 5 obtained certain interests in portions 

of property intended to be developed as part of the Stars and Stripes Park Property, by virtue of 
dedications contained on the Stars and Stripes in the Park recorded in the Public Records of St. 
Lucie County, Florida at Book 120, Page 30; and  
 

WHEREAS, MATTAMY requests the ability to construct the improvements 
contemplated by the Stars and Stripes Site Plan (P22-195), as approved by the City of Port St. 

63



Lucie City Commission on November 13, 2023 (“Site Plan”), specifically to include such 
improvements as more particularly set forth on Exhibit “B” attached to this Agreement and made 
a part hereof (collectively the “Park Improvement Construction”); and  
 

WHEREAS, the CITY and the SOUTHERN GROVE NO. 5 desire to allow MATTAMY 
to perform Park Improvement Construction on the Stars and Stripes Park Property; and  
 

WHEREAS, MATTAMY, the CITY, and the SOUTHERN GROVE CDD NO. 5 desire 
to establish their respective rights and obligations regarding MATTAMY’s Park Improvement 
Construction on the Stars and Stripes Park Property; and  

 
WHEREAS, MATTAMY also desires to donate artwork to the City for placement on the 

Stars and Stripes Park Property as delineated on the Site Plan and listed as a component of the Park 
Improvement Construction on Exhibit “B”; and 

 
WHEREAS, CITY agrees to accept a donation from MATTAMY of artwork entitled 

“Stars and Stripes”, and as described in more detail in Exhibit “C” attached to this Agreement 
and made a part hereof, hereinafter referred to as “WORK”, for the aesthetic enrichment of CITY 
generally, and for the enhancement of the immediate geographic area in which it will be situated.  
 
 NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of ten dollars ($10.00), the foregoing premises, the 
undertakings and mutual agreements herein contained and assumed, and other good and valuable 
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereby 
covenant and agree as follows: 
 
1. Recitals: The foregoing recitations are true and correct and are incorporated herein by this 
reference. 
 
  
2. Park Improvement Construction:  
 
 A. MATTAMY agrees to perform the Park Improvement Construction in accordance 
with the Mattamy Design Plans (as defined below). MATTAMY shall commence the Park 
Improvement Construction within forty-five (45) days of the Effective Date. (“Park Improvement 
Construction Commencement”). MATTAMY shall complete Park Improvement Construction 
within eighteen (18) months of the Park Improvement Construction Commencement.   
 

B. MATTAMY agrees and acknowledges that: 
i. it has voluntarily entered into this Agreement with the CITY; and 

ii. the CITY did not require this Agreement in exchange for the right for 
MATTAMY to develop property; and 

iii. this Agreement does not constitute an exaction; and  
iv. the Park Improvement Construction and all other costs relating to the Stars 

and Stripes Park Property including, but not limited to construction, planning, engineering, design, 
surveys, inspection, testing are a donation to the CITY; and 

v. it is not entitled, waives any right to, and will not seek reimbursement or 

64



impact fee credits for expenses it incurs for the Park Improvement Construction or Stars and 
Stripes Park Property; and  

vi. Section 163.31801(5)(a), Florida Statutes is inapplicable to this Agreement.   
 

 C. MATTAMY shall be responsible for obtaining all necessary permits to complete 
the Park Improvement Construction. CITY agrees to expedite the review and issuance of any City 
permits for MATTAMY for the Park Improvement Construction, which CITY shall use all 
reasonable efforts to have such reviews completed within thirty (30) days of receipt of an 
application for such permits. 
 
3. Conditions to Commencement of Park Improvement Construction.  Prior to 
commencement of construction of the Park Improvement Construction, MATTAMY shall provide 
the CITY with: (a) a bond in a form and content acceptable to the CITY, in an amount equal to 
120% of the total estimated cost of the Park Improvement Construction identified on Exhibit “B”, 
excluding the costs associated with the WORK and installation thereof (“Bond”); (b) evidence 
that all necessary permits have been obtained; (c) a copy of the construction contracts for the Park 
Improvement Construction; and (d) evidence of a certificate of insurance reasonably satisfactory 
to the CITY and evidencing liability insurance as set forth in Section 8 below.   
 
4.  Compliance with Applicable Laws, Codes and Regulations:  MATTAMY and the 
SOUTHERN GROVE CDD NO. 5 shall abide by and follow any and all rules and requirements 
of the regulatory agencies that have jurisdiction over the subject matter of this Agreement as well 
as all applicable federal and state laws, regulations, and CITY ordinances, as amended from time 
to time. 
 
5. Construction and Design Plans: MATTAMY shall furnish to CITY a complete set of design 
and construction drawings, plans, specifications, and other necessary engineering data for the 
proposed Park Improvement Construction (“Mattamy Design Plans”) within thirty (30) days of the 
Effective Date.  After commencement of the Park Improvement Construction if there is either: (i) 
a cessation of construction activity where there have been no documented inspections by CITY for 
a period of twelve (12) months; or (ii) an expiration of the associated permit(s), whichever occurs 
first, then CITY reserves the right to require the resubmittal of the Mattamy Design Plans and 
further payment of applicable review fees upon MATTAMY’s resubmission of said documents 
for approval.  Approval by the CITY of the Mattamy Design Plans for the Park Improvement 
Construction shall not act as a waiver of MATTAMY’s responsibility to perform the Park 
Improvement Construction in accordance with all applicable state, county, federal or municipal 
laws, rules and regulations and such approval by the CITY shall not relieve MATTAMY of such 
obligations or impact the CITY’s right to be indemnified for MATTAMY’s or MATTAMY’s 
contractor’s negligence in performing those duties. 
  
6. Completion of Park Improvement Construction: MATTAMY shall provide written notice 
to the CITY of its completion of construction of Park Improvement Construction and within seven 
(7) business days after delivery of such notice, the CITY shall make a final inspection to confirm 
that the Park Improvement Construction has been completed in substantial compliance with the 
Mattamy Design Plans and any applicable building codes and regulations. Upon receipt of notice 
from the City that the Park Improvement Construction has passed the forgoing inspection, and at 

65



a mutually agreeable time thereafter, MATTAMY shall deliver to the CITY a bill of sale (if 
applicable) and a signed assignment of warranties, in a form mutually acceptable to the Parties, 
assigning to the CITY MATTAMY’s rights and interest in and to all third party warranties 
pertaining to the Park Improvement Construction, to the extent assignable (the “Mattamy 
Assignment of Warranties”). Upon the foregoing occurrences, the CITY shall deliver to 
MATTAMY written acceptance of the Park Improvement Construction (“Mattamy Certificate of 
Completion”).  Upon issuance of the Mattamy Certificate of Completion, the CITY shall be solely 
responsible for all ongoing maintenance, repair, operation, and replacement of the Park 
Improvement Construction and MATTAMY shall have no responsibility or obligation related to 
the same, absent additional agreements beings entered into by the CITY and MATTAMY to 
provide supplemental maintenance to the Stars and Stripes Park. Additionally, upon issuance of 
the Mattamy Certificate of Completion, the CITY shall be solely responsible for any additional 
design, improvements or construction relating to the Stars and Stripes Park.  
 
For purposes of this Agreement, the “Final Completion” of construction of the Park Improvement 
Construction shall not be deemed to have occurred until such time as the CITY has issued the 
Mattamy Certificate of Completion (as defined above). 
 
7.    Donation and Installation of the WORK.  
 

A. The WORK. 
 

i. MATTAMY hereby donates to CITY the WORK, created by artist 
Joseph O’Connell (the “ARTIST”). 

 
ii. The parties agree that the WORK is donated to the CITY at no cost to 

CITY and reaffirm the applicability of Section 2 of this Agreement to the WORK.  
 
 
B.    Artist Information.  MATTAMY shall provide CITY with any contact information 

it has for the ARTIST. 
 
C.  Installation and Maintenance Information.   MATTAMY shall provide CITY with 

all information it has, if any, regarding the proper maintenance of the WORK.  CITY will perform 
all required maintenance on the WORK, at no cost to MATTAMY, upon installation of the 
WORK and transfer of the WORK’s ownership to the CITY in compliance with Section 6 of this 
Agreement.  

 
D.    Transportation/Delivery.  MATTAMY shall be responsible for the wrapping, 

crating and/or transportation and installation of the WORK pursuant to the Site Plan and the 
terms of this Agreement, unless otherwise agreed upon by the parties in writing.   MATTAMY 
shall perform these obligations at no cost to the CITY.   

 
E.    Responsibility for Damage or Loss.  MATTAMY shall be responsible for any 

damage or loss suffered to the WORK until unloaded and installed in compliance with the Site 
Plan and transfer of ownership to the CITY pursuant to Section 6 of this Agreement.  

66



 
F.   MATTAMY Representations. MATTAMY represents that it has or will have at 

the time of transfer to the CITY, title to the WORK and the legal ability to make this donation.  
MATTAMY represents and warrants to the CITY that the WORK is free and clear of any liens 
and encumbrances from any source whatsoever. Upon delivering, unloading, and installing the 
WORK pursuant to the Site Plan, MATTAMY agrees to transfer all rights of ownership that 
MATTAMY has in the WORK to CITY, including, to the extent assignable, any copyrights, 
patents, and other reproduction rights for the WORK. MATTAMY shall provide the CITY with a 
Warranty of Title certifying that the WORK is free of liens, claims, or other encumbrances and 
that MATTAMY has the legal ability to make this donation. The Warranty of Title shall be in the 
form identical to the sample form attached hereto and incorporated by reference herein as Exhibit 
“D”. 

 
G.   Display. Upon receipt of WORK, CITY will display the WORK at the Stars and 

Stripes Park Property.  CITY shall have the right to relocate the WORK from the initial 
installation site(s), or permanently remove the WORK from public display, for any reason; 
provided, however, prior to the relocation or removal of the WORK, the CITY shall obtain any 
site plan or other approval(s) that may be required to relocate or remove the WORK from the 
Stars and Stripes Park Property. 

 
H.   Deaccession.     MATTAMY hereby acknowledges that CITY may deaccession 

the WORK at any time including, but not limited to, taking one of the following actions: (1) 
selling the WORK; (2) donating the WORK; or (3) discarding or destroying the WORK; 
provided, however, in the event CITY receives a bona fide written offer from any third party to 
purchase the WORK, which CITY desires to accept, MATTAMY has the right and may elect to 
purchase the WORK at the price offered by such third party (the “Offered Price”).  CITY shall 
give notice to MATTAMY, including delivery to MATTAMY of a true and exact copy of the 
written bona fide offer, and allow MATTAMY no less than thirty (30) calendar days subsequent 
to MATTAMY’s receipt of such notice within which OWNER may elect to purchase the WORK 
from CITY, and in the event MATTAMY so elects to purchase the WORK by giving notice of 
such election to CITY within the thirty (30) day period, CITY shall sell the WORK to 
MATTAMY at the Offered Price. Further, notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in 
this Agreement, CITY shall not donate, discard, or destroy the WORK without first offering in 
writing to transfer ownership of the WORK back to MATTAMY. 
 
8. Insurance: Prior to the commencement of any work contemplated by this Agreement, 
MATTAMY and the SOUTHERN GROVE CDD NO. 5 (as applicable) must provide the CITY a 
certificate of insurance evidencing insurance coverage as required hereunder.  All insurance 
policies shall be issued by companies authorized to do business under the laws of the State of 
Florida.  MATTAMY and the SOUTHERN GROVE CDD NO. 5 (as applicable) is responsible 
for ensuring that all contractors or subcontractors performing work, on MATTAMY’s or the 
SOUTHERN GROVE CDD NO. 5’s (as applicable) behalf, relating to this Agreement have 
policies of insurance reflecting the coverage set forth below, without the language when required 
by written contract: 

67



 
 A. Workers’ Compensation Insurance & Employer’s Liability:  MATTAMY shall 
maintain Workers' Compensation Insurance & Employers' Liability in accordance with Chapter 
440, Florida Statutes. Employers’ Liability and must include limits of at least $100,000.00 each 
accident, $100,000.00 each disease/employee, $500,000.00 each disease/maximum. A Waiver of 
Subrogation endorsement shall be provided. Coverage shall apply on a primary basis.  
 
 B. Commercial General Liability Insurance:  MATTAMY and the SOUTHERN 
GROVE CDD NO. 5 shall maintain Commercial General Liability insurance issued under an 
Occurrence form basis, including Contractual liability, to cover the hold harmless agreement set 
forth herein, with limits of not less than: 
 

Each occurrence    $1,000,000 
Personal/advertising injury   $1,000,000 
Products/completed operations aggregate $2,000,000 
General aggregate    $2,000,000 
Medical expense    $10,000 any 1 person 
 

C. Additional Insured:  An Additional Insured endorsement must be attached to the 
certificate of insurance and must include coverage for on-going and Completed Operations (should 
be ISO CG2037 & CG2010) under the General Liability policy. Products & Completed Operations 
coverage to be provided for a minimum of five (5) years from the date of completion of the work 
performed pursuant to this Agreement. Coverage is to be written on an occurrence form basis.  
Coverage shall apply on a primary and non-contributory basis. Defense costs are to be in addition 
to the limit of liability. A waiver of subrogation shall be provided in favor of the CITY. Coverage 
for the hazards of explosion, collapse, and underground property damage (XCU) must also be 
included when applicable to the work performed. No exclusion for bodily injury/property damage 
arising out of heat, smoke, fumes, or hostile fire shall apply. Contractual Liability is to be included. 
Coverage is to include a cross liability or severability of interests’ provision as provided under the 
standard ISO form separation of insurers clause.  

 
D. Certificate of Insurance. Except as to Workers' Compensation and Employers' 

Liability, said Certificate(s) and policies shall clearly state that coverage required by this 
Agreement has been endorsed to include the City of Port St. Lucie, a Florida Municipal 
Corporation, its officers, agents, and employees as Additional Insured added to its Commercial 
General Liability and Business Automobile Liability, and Pollution Liability policies.  The name 
for the Additional Insured endorsement issued by the insurer shall read "City of Port St. Lucie, a 
Florida Municipal Corporation, its officers, employees, and agents shall be included as 
additional insured and shall include Stars and Stripes Park Improvement and Art Donate 
Agreement. The Policies shall be specifically endorsed to provide thirty (30) day written notice 
to the CITY prior to any adverse changes, cancellation, or non-renewal of coverage thereunder. In 
the event that the statutory liability of the CITY is amended during the term of this Agreement to 
exceed the above limits, MATTAMY or the SOUTHERN GROVE CDD NO. 5 (as applicable) 
shall be required, upon receipt of thirty (30) days written notice by the CITY, to provide coverage 
at least equal to the amended statutory limit of liability of the CITY. In the event that MATTAMY 
or the SOUTHERN GROVE CDD NO. 5 (as applicable) is unable to obtain such coverage, 

68



MATTAMY shall have the right to terminate this Agreement in writing to the CITY. Copies of 
the Additional Insured endorsements including Completed Operations coverage shall be attached 
to the Certificate of Insurance.  

 
E. Business Automobile Liability Insurance:  MATTAMY shall maintain Business 

Automobile Liability at a limit of liability not less than $1,000,000.00 each accident covering any 
auto, owned, non-owned and hired automobiles.  In the event MATTAMY does not own any 
automobiles, the Business Auto Liability requirement shall be amended allowing MATTAMY to 
maintain only Hired & Non-Owned Auto Liability.  This amended requirement may be satisfied 
by way of endorsement to the Commercial General Liability, or separate Business Auto Coverage 
form. The certificate holder must be listed as additional insured. A waiver of subrogation shall be 
provided. Coverage shall apply on a primary non-contributory basis. 

 
F.  Pollution Insurance: MATTAMY shall procure and agree to maintain in full force 

during the term of this Contract, Contractors Pollution Liability Insurance in limits not less than 
$1,000,000 per occurrence and $2,000,000 aggregate, for any operations relating to the 
construction, handling, storage, and transportation of hazardous materials and/or waste. 
Contractors Pollution should be in force for no less than the entire term of the project and two 
years extended Completed Operations. The City of Port St. Lucie shall be listed as an additional 
insured. A waiver of subrogation shall be provided in favor of the City. Coverage shall apply on a 
primary and non-contributory basis. 
 

G. Waiver of Subrogation:  MATTAMY shall agree by entering into this Agreement 
to a Waiver of Subrogation for each policy MATTAMY is required to maintain under this 
Agreement.  This Waiver of Subrogation requirement shall not apply to any policy where a 
condition to the policy specifically prohibits such an endorsement, or voids coverage should 
MATTAMY enter into such a Contract on a pre-loss basis. 

 
H. Deductibles:  All deductible amounts for policies MATTAMY is required to 

maintain under this Agreement shall be paid for and be the responsibility of MATTAMY for any 
and all claims under this Agreement.  

 
It shall be the responsibility of MATTAMY to ensure that all independent contractors 

and/subcontractors working by, through, for, or under MATTAMY on a Park Improvement 
Construction project comply with the same insurance requirements as listed herein, including 
Products & Completed Operations coverage for a minimum of five (5) years from the date of 
completion of the improvements built pursuant to this Agreement.  It will be the responsibility of 
MATTAMY to obtain Certificates of Insurance from all contractors and subcontractors working 
by, through, for, or under MATTAMY Park Improvement Construction project listing the CITY 
as an Additional Insured, without the language when required by written contract.  If MATTAMY, 
any independent contractor, or subcontractor maintains higher limits than the minimums shown 
above, the CITY requires and shall be entitled to coverage for the higher limits maintained by 
MATTAMY/independent contractor/subcontractor. 

 
All insurance carriers must have an AM Best rating of at least A:VII or better.  
 

69



Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as a waiver of sovereign immunity by CITY 
whether by contract or under any law or regulation. Failure of MATTAMY to promptly provide 
the defense or indemnification required herein is a material breach of this Agreement which can 
result in immediate termination notwithstanding any other provision herein. CITY’s liability in all 
instances shall be limited to the monetary limits set forth in section 768.28, Florida Statutes. 

 
9. Indemnification: MATTAMY shall hold harmless and indemnify CITY, its officers, agents, 
servants, and employees from and against any and all causes of action, demands, claims, losses, 
liabilities, or expenditures of any kind, including reasonable attorney fees, court costs, and 
expenses, caused or alleged to be caused by any intentional or negligent act or omission of 
MATTAMY, its employees, agents, servants, or officers, resulting from, or related in any way to 
this Agreement, including, without limitation, any and all claims, losses, liabilities, expenditures, 
demands or causes of action of any nature whatsoever resulting from injuries or damages sustained 
by any person or property. The provisions and obligations of this section shall survive the 
expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement. Nothing in this paragraph shall be deemed to 
affect the rights, privileges and sovereign immunities of CITY as set forth in section 768.28, 
Florida Statutes, or any other provision of law. 
 
 The SOUTHERN GROVE CDD NO. 5 agrees it shall, subject to the limitations contained 
in section 768.28, Florida Statutes, hold harmless and indemnify CITY, its officers, agents, servants, 
and employees from and against any and all causes of action, demands, claims, losses, liabilities, 
or expenditures of any kind, including reasonable attorney fees, court costs, and expenses, caused 
or alleged to be caused by any intentional or negligent act or omission of the SOUTHERN GROVE 
CDD NO. 5, its employees, agents, servants, or officers, resulting from, or related in any way to 
this Agreement, including, without limitation, any and all claims, losses, liabilities, expenditures, 
demands or causes of action of any nature whatsoever resulting from injuries or damages sustained 
by any person or property. The provisions and obligations of this section shall survive the 
expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement. Nothing in this paragraph shall be deemed to 
affect the rights, privileges and sovereign immunities of CITY as set forth in section 768.28, 
Florida Statutes, or any other provision of law. 
 
10. The SOUTHERN GROVE CDD NO. 5 Cooperation.  The SOUTHERN GROVE CDD 
NO. 5 agrees to take all actions necessary to facilitate MATTAMY’s completion of its obligations 
described herein, including but not limited to execution of all necessary documents relating to 
obtaining governmental approvals, or construction of improvements.  
 
11.  Qualified Contractor: MATTAMY shall each cause the work under this Agreement to be 
supervised and directed by a contractor licensed in the State of Florida, applying such skills and 
expertise as is necessary to perform the work in accordance with the applicable approved plans.  
 
12. Repair and Damage of Property: MATTAMY shall repair any damage caused to the CITY 
or the SOUTHERN GROVE CDD NO. 5 property, arising from MATTAMY’s use of CITY or the 
SOUTHERN GROVE CDD NO. 5 property necessary to complete the Park Improvement 
Construction. 
 
13. Default:  

70



 
A. With respect to any event of default and/or breach under this Agreement (“Event 

of Default”), neither Party shall be deemed in default and/or breach unless: 
 

i. the Party alleging such default and/or breach shall have provided written 
notice of the alleged default and/or breach to the other Party; and 

 
ii. the alleged defaulting and/or breaching Party shall have failed within a 

period of thirty (30) days after receipt of such notice to commence such action as is 
reasonably necessary to cure said default and/or breach and thereafter diligently pursue to 
cure such default within a reasonable time; and 

 
iii. the alleging Party is in compliance with the provisions of this Agreement. 

 
B. Subject to the right to cure set forth above, in the event of a default and/or breach 

by: 
i.  MATTAMY.  If MATTAMY defaults/breaches by failing to comply with any 

of its obligations under this Agreement the CITY may pursue the following (or both 
options): (a) call the Bond; (b) pursue all remedies in equity or law. The SOUTHERN 
GROVE CDD NO. 5 may pursue all remedies in equity or law against MATTAMY. 

 
ii. SOUTHERN GROVE CDD NO. 5.  If the SOUTHERN GROVE CDD NO. 5 

defaults/breaches by failing to comply with any of its obligations under this Agreement the 
CITY and MATTAMY may pursue all remedies in equity or law against the SOUTHERN 
GROVE CDD NO. 5. 

 
iii.  CITY.  If the CITY defaults/breaches under this Agreement, MATTAMY and 

the SOUTHERN GROVE CDD NO. 5’s sole and exclusive remedy is to seek specific 
performance for such obligation.  

 
14. Force Majeure; Weather Days: The deadlines set forth herein are subject to extensions 
by any Party for a Force Majeure Event (as herein defined). As used herein, a “Force Majeure 
Event” shall include governmental moratorium or unavailability of essential supplies or utilities 
(e.g., power or water) through no fault of the requesting Party, fire (including wildfires), explosion 
or similar casualty, sabotage, theft, vandalism, riot or civil commotion, pandemic, hurricane, 
tropical storm, tornado, or flooding.  Any extension of any deadline set forth in this Agreement 
due to a Force Majeure Event shall be only for delay in performance that results from such Force 
Majeure Event.  In the event that any Party claims a delay for a Force Majeure Event, the requesting 
Party shall make a claim for an extension in writing to the other Party within fifteen (15) business 
days after the occurrence of a Force Majeure Event for which such claim is being made.  The claim 
shall clearly state the reason, provide a detailed explanation given as to why the event is a Force 
Majeure Event and provide sufficient documentation to support such claim. If no written objection 
to such claim for extension is received from the other Party within fifteen (15) business days from 
the date of the written extension request, such extension shall be deemed given.  If a written 
objection is made, the Parties shall meet and confer within fifteen (15) business days to address 
their differences and may not take legal action prior to such conferral taking place. 

71



 
 Additionally, any date or deadline set forth in this Agreement may be delayed for inclement 
weather conditions, as set forth in the following sentence, based on the commercially reasonable 
concurrence of the CITY (“Weather Days”). The CITY will grant time extensions, on a day-to-day 
basis, for delays caused by the effects of rain or inclement weather conditions, related adverse soil 
conditions or suspensions of operations that prevent MATTAMY from constructing their 
applicable Park Improvement Construction.  If MATTAMY believes a Weather Day has occurred, 
MATTAMY may submit a request for time extension within fifteen (15) days after the occurrence 
of the Weather Days, which, in the opinion of MATTAMY warrants such an extension with reasons 
clearly stated and a detailed explanation given with sufficient documentation as to why the event 
is a Weather Day. If no written objection to such request for extension is given by the CITY within 
fifteen (15) business days from the date of the delivery by MATTAMY of the request, such 
extension shall be deemed given. If a written objection is made by the CITY, the Parties shall meet 
and confer within fifteen (15) business days to address their differences and may not take legal 
action prior to such conferral taking place. 
 
15. Notices: All notices or other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be 
deemed duly given if delivered in person (including by any over-night delivery service) or sent by 
certified mail, return receipt requested, and addressed as follows or to such other Party or address 
as may be designated by one Party to the other. 

 
If to CITY:     With copy to: 
 
City of Port St. Lucie    City of Port St. Lucie 
121 SW Port St. Lucie Boulevard  121 SW Port St. Lucie Boulevard 
Port St. Lucie Florida 34984   Port St. Lucie Florida 34984 
Attention: City Manager   Attention: City Attorney 
 
 
If to MATTAMY:    With copy to: 

 
Mattamy Palm Beach, LLC    Fox McCluskey Bush Robison, PLLC 
Attention: Dan Grosswald   Attention: Tyson Waters, Esq. 
1500 Gateway Blvd, Ste 212   3461 SE Willoughby Boulevard 
Boynton Beach, Florida 33426  Stuart, Florida 34994 
 
and to: 
 
Mattamy Palm Beach, LLC 
Attention: Nicole Marginian Swartz, Esq. 
4901 Vineland Road, Suite 450 
Orlando, Florida 32811 
 

  

72



If to the SOUTHERN GROVE CDD NO. 5: 
 
District Manager    Attorney for District No. 5 
10807 S.W. Tradition Square   10807 S.W. Tradition Square 
Port St. Lucie, Florida 34987   Port St. Lucie, Florida 34987 

 
 

16. Indulgence Not Waiver: The indulgence of any Party with regard to any breach or failure 
to perform any provision of this Agreement shall not be deemed to constitute a waiver of the 
provision or any portion of this Agreement, either at the time of the breach or failure occurs, or at 
any time throughout the term of this Agreement. 
 
17. Entire Agreement; Amendment: This Agreement constitutes the entire Agreement between 
the Parties with respect to the subject matter of this Agreement and supersedes all prior oral or 
written agreements between the Parties. This Agreement may be amended only by written 
document executed by all Parties. 
 
18. Interpretation; Venue: This Agreement shall be interpreted as a whole unit, and section 
headings are for convenience only. All interpretations shall be governed by the laws of the State 
of Florida. In the event it is necessary for any Party to initiate legal action regarding this 
Agreement, venue shall be in the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for St. Lucie County, Florida, 
for claims under state law, and in the Southern District of Florida for claims justiciable in federal 
court. TO ENCOURAGE PROMPT AND EQUITABLE RESOLUTION OF ANY LITIGATION, 
ALL PARTIES HEREBY WAIVE THEIR RIGHTS TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY 
LITIGATION RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT. This clause shall survive the expiration or 
termination of this Agreement. 
 
19. Time of the Essence: Time is of the essence with regard to this Agreement. 
 
20. Counterparts: This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, each of which 
individually shall be deemed an original, but when taken together shall be deemed to be one and 
the same Agreement. 
 
21. Sovereign Immunity:  Nothing in this Agreement shall be considered to increase or waive 
any limits of liability or waive any immunity afforded to the CITY by Florida Statutes, case law, 
or any other source of law.  
 
22. Assignability:  Except as otherwise permitted elsewhere in this Agreement, the rights and 
obligations of MATTAMY or the SOUTHERN GROVE CDD NO. 5 under this Agreement may 
not be assigned in whole or in part without the prior written consent of CITY, which consent shall 
not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned.  
 
23. Invalid Provisions: In the event any term or provision of this Agreement is held illegal, 
unenforceable, or inoperative as a matter of law, the remaining terms and provisions will not be 
affected thereby but will be valid and remain in full force and effect to fullest extent possible. If 
any provision of this Agreement may be construed in two or more ways, one of which would 

73



render the provision invalid or otherwise voidable or unenforceable and another of which would 
render the provision valid and enforceable, such provision shall have the meaning which renders 
it valid and enforceable. 
 
24. 713 Notice:  Under section 713.10, Florida Statutes, the interest of CITY in the property 
or the improvements therein, shall not be subject to liens for any improvements made by or on 
behalf of MATTAMY and it is specifically provided that neither MATTAMY nor any one 
claiming by, through or under MATTAMY, including, without limitation, contractors, 
subcontractors, materialmen, mechanics and/or laborers, shall have any right to file or place any 
mechanics’ or materialmen’s liens of any kind whatsoever upon the property or the improvements 
thereon; and any such liens are hereby specifically prohibited.  All parties with whom MATTAMY 
may deal are put on notice that MATTAMY has no power to subject CITY’s interest to any 
mechanic’s or materialmen’s lien of any kind or character, and all such persons so dealing with 
MATTAMY must look solely to the MATTAMY and not to CITY’s said interest or assets. 
MATTAMY shall provide written notice to each contractor, subcontractor, materialman, 
mechanic, and laborer performing work on the property of the foregoing. 
 
25. Authority to Sign: Each individual signing this Agreement directly and expressly warrants 
that such individual has been given and received and accepted authority to sign and execute the 
documents on behalf of the Party for whom it is indicated such individual has signed, and further 
has been expressly given and received and accepted authority to enter into a binding agreement on 
behalf of such Party with respect to the matters concerned herein and stated herein. 
 
26. Further Assurances: In addition to the acts and deeds recited herein and contemplated to 
be performed, executed and/or delivered by all Parties, all Parties agree to execute and deliver, but 
without any obligation to incur any additional liability, responsibility, charge or expense, such 
additional documentation as may be reasonably necessary to consummate the transactions 
contemplated hereby. 
 
27. Waiver of Consequential Damages: Notwithstanding anything contained in this Agreement 
to the contrary, each Party hereby waives the right to pursue any other Party, and such other Party 
shall not be liable, for any special, indirect, consequential, incidental, or punitive damages, 
including, but not limited to, lost profits, arising out of or in connection with this Agreement. 

28. Public Records: The City of Port St. Lucie is a public agency subject to Chapter 119, 
Florida Statutes.  MATTAMY and the SOUTHERN GROVE CDD NO. 5 shall comply with 
Florida’s Public Records Law. MATTAMY’S and the SOUTHERN GROVE CDD NO. 5’S 
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR COMPLIANCE WITH CHAPTER 119, FLORIDA STATUTES. 
Pursuant to section 119.0701, Florida Statutes: 

MATTAMY and the SOUTHERN GROVE CDD NO. 5 agrees to comply with all public records 
laws, specifically to: 

Keep and maintain public records required by the CITY in order to perform under this Agreement:   

74



A. The timeframes and classifications for records retention requirements must be in 
accordance with the General Records Schedule GS1-SL for State and Local Government 
Agencies. 

 
B. During the term of the Agreement, MATTAMY and the SOUTHERN GROVE CDD NO. 

5 shall maintain all books, reports, and records in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting practices and standards for records directly related to this Agreement. The form of 
all records and reports relating to matters arising from and relating to this Agreement shall be 
subject to the review of the CITY, and upon CITY’s reasonable written request such forms 
shall be modified as necessary to comply with applicable law. 

 
C. Records include all documents, papers, letters, maps, books, tapes, photographs, films, 

sound recordings, data processing software, or other material, regardless of the physical 
form, characteristics, or means of transmission, made, or received pursuant to law or 
ordinance or in connection with the transaction of official business with the CITY. 
MATTAMY’s and the SOUTHERN GROVE CDD NO. 5’s records under this Agreement 
include but are not limited to, supplier/subcontractor invoices and contracts, project 
documents, meeting notes, emails, and all other documentation generated during this 
Agreement. 

 
D. MATTAMY and the SOUTHERN GROVE CDD NO. 5 agree to make available to the 

CITY, during normal business hours, all books of account, reports and records relating to this 
Agreement. 

 
E. A contractor who fails to provide the public records to the City within a reasonable time 

may also be subject to penalties under section 119.10, Florida Statutes. 

 Upon request from the CITY’s custodian of public records, provide the public agency with a copy 
of the requested records or allow the records to be inspected or copied within a reasonable time at 
a cost that does not exceed the cost provided in this chapter or as otherwise provided by law.   

 Ensure that public records that are exempt or confidential and exempt from public records 
disclosure requirements are not disclosed except as authorized by law for the duration of the 
Agreement term and following completion of the Agreement if MATTAMY and the SOUTHERN 
GROVE CDD NO. 5 do not transfer the records to the CITY.   

 Upon completion of the Agreement, transfer, at no cost to the City, all public records in possession 
of MATTAMY and the SOUTHERN GROVE CDD NO. 5 or, keep and maintain public records 
required by the CITY to perform the service.  If MATTAMY and the SOUTHERN GROVE CDD 
NO. 5 transfer all public records to the CITY upon completion of the Agreement, MATTAMY 
and the SOUTHERN GROVE CDD NO. 5 shall destroy any duplicate public records that are 
exempt or confidential and exempt from public records disclosure requirements.  If MATTAMY 
and the SOUTHERN GROVE CDD NO. 5 keep and maintain public records upon completion of 
the Agreement, MATTAMY and the SOUTHERN GROVE CDD NO. 5 shall meet all applicable 
requirements for retaining public records.  All records stored electronically must be provided to 
the CITY, upon request from the CITY’s custodian of public records in a format that is compatible 
with the information technology systems of the CITY. 

75



 
IF MATTAMY AND THE SOUTHERN GROVE CDD NO. 5 HAVE 
QUESTIONS REGARDING THE APPLICATION OF CHAPTER 119, 
FLORIDA STATUTES, TO MATTAMY AND THE SOUTHERN GROVE 
CDD NO.   DUTY TO PROVIDE PUBLIC RECORDS RELATING TO THIS 
AGREEMENT, CONTACT THE CUSTODIAN OF PUBLIC RECORDS AT: 
  

CITY CLERK 
121 SW Port St. Lucie Blvd. 

Port St. Lucie, FL 34984 
(772) 871 5157 

prr@cityofpsl.com 
 
29.  E-Verify. In accordance with section 448.095, Florida Statutes, MATTAMY and the 
SOUTHERN GROVE CDD NO. 5 agree to comply with the following: 
 

A. MATTAMY and the SOUTHERN GROVE CDD NO. 5 must register with and use the E-
Verify system to verify the work authorization status of all new employees of MATTAMY 
and the SOUTHERN GROVE CDD NO. 5. MATTAMY and the SOUTHERN GROVE 
CDD NO. 5 must provide the CITY with sufficient proof of compliance with this provision 
before beginning work under this Agreement.  
 

B. If MATTAMY and the SOUTHERN GROVE CDD NO. 5 enters into a contract with a 
subcontractor for work provided under this Agreement, MATTAMY and the SOUTHERN 
GROVE CDD NO. 5 any such contract must require each and every subcontractor to 
provide them with an affidavit stating that the subcontractor does not employ, contract 
with, or subcontract with an unauthorized alien. MATTAMY and the SOUTHERN 
GROVE CDD NO. 5 shall maintain a copy of each and every such affidavit(s) for the 
duration of the Agreement and any renewals thereafter. 
 

C. The CITY shall terminate this Agreement if it has a good faith belief that a person or an 
entity with which it is contracting has knowingly violated section 448.09(1), Florida 
Statutes. 
 

D. MATTAMY and the SOUTHERN GROVE CDD NO. 5 shall immediately terminate any 
contract with any subcontractor performing work under this Agreement if they have, or 
develop, a good faith belief that the subcontractor has violated section 448.09(1), Florida 
Statutes.  If CITY has or develops a good faith belief that any subcontractor of MATTAMY 
and/or the SOUTHERN GROVE CDD NO. 5 providing work under this Agreement 
knowingly violated section 448.09(1), Florida Statutes, or any provision of section 
448.095, Florida Statutes, the CITY shall promptly notify MATTAMY and/or the 
SOUTHERN GROVE CDD NO. 5 and order MATTAMY and/or the SOUTHERN 
GROVE CDD NO. 5 to immediately terminate the contract with the subcontractor. 
 

76



E. The CITY shall terminate this Agreement for violation of any provision in this section. If 
the Agreement is terminated under this section, it is not a breach of contract and may not 
be considered as such. If the CITY terminates this Agreement under this section, 
MATTAMY and/or the SOUTHERN GROVE CDD NO. 5 may not be awarded a public 
contract for at least one (1) year after the date on which the Agreement was terminated. A 
contractor is liable for any additional costs incurred by the CITY as a result of the 
termination of a contract. 
 

F. The CITY, MATTAMY, SOUTHERN GROVE CDD NO. 5, or any subcontractor may 
file a cause of action with a circuit or county court to challenge a termination under section 
448.095(5)(c), Florida Statutes, no later than twenty (20) calendar days after the date on 
which the Contract was terminated. The Parties agree that such a cause of action must be 
filed in accordance with the Venue provision, as otherwise provided herein.  

 
 

 
[Signatures and acknowledgments appear on the following page(s)] 

  

77



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have hereunto set their hands and seals as of the day 
and year first above written. 
 
       
  

78



      CITY OF PORT ST. LUCIE: 
Witnesses: 
 A Florida municipal corporation  
______________________________  
Print Name/Address:____________________ 
______________________________ 
______________________________ By: ____________________________________ 
______________________________ Print Name: _____________________________ 
 
_______________________________ 
Print Name/Address: Its: City Manager  
______________________________ 
 
_____________________________ 
 
 
STATE OF FLORIDA 
COUNTY OF _____________________ 
 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of [  ] physical presence or [   ] 
online notarization, this ____ day of ___________________, 2024, by 
_____________________________, as ________________ of City of Port St. Lucie, a Florida 
municipal corporation, who [  ] is personally known to me or [   ] has produced 
____________________________ as identification. 
 
 
[Notary Seal]    ______________________________________ 
     Notary Public-State of Florida 

Print Name: 
My commission expires: 

 
 

*     *     * 
 
  

79



 
 
      MATTAMY: 
Witnesses: 
 Mattamy Palm Beach, LLC, a Delaware limited 
______________________________ liability company 
Print Name/Address:____________________ 
______________________________ 
______________________________ By: ____________________________________ 
______________________________ Print Name: _____________________________ 
 
_______________________________ 
Print Name/Address: Its: Authorized Signatory 
______________________________ 
 
_____________________________ 
 
 
STATE OF FLORIDA 
COUNTY OF _____________________ 
 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of [  ] physical presence or [   ] 
online notarization, this ____ day of ___________________, 2024, by 
_____________________________, as ________________ of Mattamy Palm Beach, LLC, a 
Delaware limited liability company, on behalf of the company, who [  ] is personally known to me 
or [   ] has produced ____________________________ as identification. 
 
 
[Notary Seal]    ______________________________________ 
     Notary Public-State of Florida 

Print Name: 
My commission expires: 

 
 

*     *     * 
 
  

80



SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 5, a 
community development district 

 
 

     By:        
Print Name:       
Title:        

WITNESSES: 
 
 
       
Print Name/Address:      
____________________________________ 
 
 
       
Print Name/Address:    _______ 
 
____________________________________ 
 
 
 
STATE OF FLORIDA 
COUNTY OF _____________________ 
 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of [  ] physical presence or [   ] 
online notarization, this _____ day of ___________________, 2024, by 
_____________________________, as ________________ of________, a 
__________________________, who [  ] is personally known to me or [   ] has produced 
____________________________ as identification. 
 
 
[Notary Seal]    ______________________________________ 
     Notary Public-State of Florida 

Print Name: 
My commission expires: 

 
 

*     *     * 
 
  

81



Exhibit “A” 
Stars and Stripes Park Property  

 
 

Parcel 3, Stars and Stripes In the Park plat, as recorded in Plat Book 120, Page 30, of the St. Lucie 
County Public Records. 

  

82



Exhibit “B” 
Project Scope  

 
 

See Attached (2 pages) 
 
 

 
 
 
  

83



EXHIBIT "C" 
Artwork 

 
 
 

(See Attached) 
 

  

84



EXHIBIT "D" 
Warranty of Title 

 
 
I,  on behalf of ____________________________, guarantee 
and warrant that the WORK listed in the Stars and Stripes Park Improvement and Artwork 
Donation Agreement is free and clear of any liens, claims or other encumbrances of any 
type and that the  has authority to make this donation. 

 
 
Signed, sealed and delivered    
in the presence of:     
 
WITNESSES        SELLER(S) 
 
              
Signature of Witness      Signature of Seller 
Print Name/Address:_____________               Print Name: ____________________ 

______________________________   Title: _________________________ 

      
Signature of Witness 
Print Name/Address:            
_________________________________ 
 

NOTARIZATION AS TO SELLER’S EXECUTION 
 
STATE OF FLORIDA  ) 
    ) ss 
COUNTY OF ____________ )  
 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of [  ] physical presence or [  ] 
online notarization, this      day of        , 20      , by 
_______________________________ who is [   ] personally known to me, or who has [   ] 
produced the following identification: 
                      .  
 
      ______________________________________ 
      Signature of Notary Public 
      ______________________________________ 

Print Name of Notary Public 
NOTARY SEAL/STAMP   Notary Public, State of Florida 
      My Commission expires __________________ 
 

85



ASSIGNMENT OF SITE CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT TO 
SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 5 

 
[Marshall Parkway Phase 3—2022 Projects] 

 
THIS ASSIGNMENT is made FROM Mattamy Palm Beach LLC, a Delaware limited 

liability company (“Mattamy”), TO Southern Grove Community Development District No. 5, 
a community development district organized and existing in accordance with Chapter 190, Flori-
da Statutes (“District No. 5”), acting in accordance with the Second Amended and Restated Dis-
trict Development Interlocal Agreement dated as of July 9, 2013, and recorded in Official Rec-
ords Book 3539, Pages 672-713, of the Public Records of St. Lucie County, Florida, as amended 
(“District Interlocal Agreement”), for itself and under delegated authority from each of the “Oth-
er Districts” (as defined in the District Interlocal Agreement), WITH THE CONSENT AND 
CONCURRENCE OF Guettler Brothers Construction, LLC, a Florida limited liability com-
pany. 

 
RECITALS 

 
A. District No. 5 has entered into a Master Trust Indenture (“Master Indenture”) dat-

ed December 17, 2014, with U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee (“Initial Trustee”), to 
secure the issuance from time to time of its “Bonds” in one or more “Series” (both as defined in 
the Master Indenture).  District No. 5 and U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association, as 
successor in interest to the Initial Trustee (“Trustee”) have also entered into the Eighth Supple-
mental Trust Indenture supplementing the Master Indenture (“Eighth Supplemental Indenture”) 
dated as of December 1, 2022, providing for issuance by the Issuer of its Special Assessment 
Bonds, Series 2022 (Community Infrastructure) (“2022 Bonds”), the proceeds of which are to be 
applied, together with other legally available funds of the Issuer, to pay, among other matters, all 
or a portion of the Costs of the 2022 Projects (defined below). 

 
B. The “2022 Projects” means the construction, acquisition, equipping, and/or im-

provement of all or a portion of the public infrastructure improvements and facilities comprising 
Community Infrastructure described in the Supplemental Engineer’s Report (as defined in the 
Eighth Supplemental Indenture), as the same may be modified, amended, or supplemented.  The 
2022 Projects, in turn, include construction of the Marshall Parkway Phase 3 Project (also known 
as Marshall Parkway (West) as described in Section 2.3 of the Supplemental Engineer’s Report). 

 
C. By that certain Improvement Acquisition Agreement—2022 CI Project, dated as 

of December 9, 2022 (“Improvement Acquisition Agreement”), Mattamy has agreed to secure 
the construction and conveyance to District No. 5 or other appropriate unit of local government 
of major components of the 2022 Projects, including construction and conveyance of Becker 
Road Phase 2. 

 
D. By that certain Site Contractor Agreement dated effective January 2, 2024, be-

tween Mattamy, as “Owner,” and Guettler as “Contractor” (“Site Contractor Agreement”), Mat-
tamy has contracted for construction of most or all of Marshall Parkway Phase 3, a copy of 
which is attached as an exhibit to this Assignment. 

86



 
E. Mattamy has requested that District No. 5 accept assignment of the Site Contrac-

tor Agreement for construction of Marshall Parkway Phase 3, and District No. 5 has agreed to 
accept such assignment subject to the terms and conditions as set forth in its acceptance of this 
Assignment. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and other consideration 

contained herein, and intending to be legally bound hereby, the parties agree as follows: 
 
1. Recitals.  The recitals set forth above are true and correct and incorporated herein 

by reference. 
 
2. Assignment of Site Contractor Agreement.  Mattamy, for itself and its succes-

sors and assigns, hereby (a) assigns to District No. 5, its successors and assigns, all right, title, 
and interest in and to the Site Contractor Agreement, which assignment shall be effective as of 
the date set forth below, (b) agrees to all terms and conditions of the acceptance of this Assign-
ment by District No. 5, as set forth below, and (c) agrees to cooperate with District No. 5 to ef-
fect the meaning and intent of this Assignment, and to execute such further instruments as may 
be reasonably required to give full force to, and to implement the terms and conditions of, this 
Assignment.  Upon performance by District No. 5 of all obligations required of Mattamy under 
the Site Contractor Agreement, District No. 5 shall be entitled to all rights and interests thereun-
der in the same manner and with the same effect as if District No. 5 had originally been named as 
“Owner” under such Agreement. 

 
 3. Effective Date.  This Assignment shall become effective upon the last date of ex-
ecution by or on behalf of (a) Mattamy, granting such Assignment and agreeing to all terms and 
conditions of acceptance by District No. 5, (b) District No. 5, accepting the Assignment subject 
to specified terms and conditions, and (c) Guettler, acknowledging its consent to and concur-
rence with the Assignment and agreeing to all terms and conditions of acceptance by District No. 
5. 
 

DATED this ___ day of _____________________, 2024. 
 
Witnesses      MATTAMY PALM BEACH LLC 

 
 

       By:        
Print Name:       Print Name:       
 Title:   
 
       
Print Name:       
 
 

87



ACCEPTANCE OF ASSIGNMENT 
 

Southern Grove Community Development District No. 5, for itself and its successors 
and assigns, hereby accepts the foregoing assignment from Mattamy Palm Beach LLC of all 
right, title, and interest in and to the Site Contractor Agreement with Guettler Brothers Construc-
tion, LLC, subject to the following terms and conditions: 

 
1. Limit of Obligation.  The total obligation of District No. 5 to pay Guettler under 

the Site Contractor Agreement is limited to the funds (a) available from proceeds of the Series 
2022 Bonds in accordance with the provisions of the Eighth Supplemental Indenture and (b) that 
may become available from the proceeds of any future series of bonds issued under the Master 
Indenture (“Future Bonds”) and for which the Marshall Parkway Phase 3 Project is eligible to be 
financed as Community Infrastructure. 

 
2. Payments.  Each payment to Guettler under the Site Contractor Agreement is sub-

ject to all requisition and other obligations and limitations set forth in (a) the Eighth Supple-
mental Indenture for the Series 2022 Bonds, (b) the applicable supplemental indenture for any 
Future Bonds for which the Marshall Parkway Phase 3 Project is eligible to be financed as 
Community Infrastructure, and (c) the Improvement Acquisition Agreement. 

 
3. Residual Obligation.  Mattamy shall remain obligated under the Site Contractor 

Agreement for any and all amounts that (a) may become due to Guettler for any reason and (b) 
either (i) exceed funds available from proceeds of the Series 2022 Bonds or Future Bonds or (ii) 
do not qualify for payment under the requisition and other obligations and limitations set forth in 
Eighth Supplemental Indenture, the applicable supplemental indenture for any Future Bonds, or 
the Improvement Acquisition Agreement. 

 
4. Revisions to Site Contractor Agreement.  The Site Contractor Agreement shall be 

subject to the following supplemental provisions and modifications: 
 

(a) Payments.  All amounts due shall be payable (i) as provided in the Local 
Government Prompt Payment Act, Part VII of Chapter 218, Florida Statutes, and (ii) in 
full compliance with all requisition and other obligations and limitations set forth in both 
Eighth Supplemental Indenture for the Series 2022 Bonds and the Improvement Acquisi-
tion Agreement. 

 
(b) Sovereign Immunity.  Notwithstanding any other provision, District No. 5, 

as successor “Owner” under the Site Contractor Agreement, intends to avail itself of the 
benefits of Section 768.28, Florida Statutes, and of other statutes and common law gov-
erning sovereign immunity.  In no event will the liability of District No. 5 exceed the sum 
of $200,000 per person or $300,000 per occurrence.  Nothing in the Site Contractor 
Agreement shall inure to the benefit of any third party for the purpose of allowing any 
claim that would otherwise be barred under the doctrine of sovereign immunity or by op-
eration of law.  Nothing in the Site Contractor Agreement shall be construed as consent 
by an agency or political subdivision of the State of Florida to be sued by third parties in 
any manner arising out of any contract. 

88



 
(c) Public Records.  Guettler understands and agrees that all documents of any 

kind whatsoever provided to District No. 5 or received by Guettler in connection with the 
Site Contractor Agreement may be public records and, accordingly, Guettler agrees to 
comply with all applicable provisions of Florida law in handling such records.  Guettler 
shall allow public access to all documents and other materials subject to the provisions of 
Chapter 119, Florida Statutes, and made or received in conjunction with the Site Contrac-
tor Agreement. 

 
(d)       E-Verify.  Guettler understands and agrees that District No. 5 contractors 

are required by law to comply with Section 448.095(2), Florida Statutes, pursuant to 
which the contractor shall: 

 
(1) Register with and use the E-Verify system to verify the work au-

thorization status of all newly hired employees and require all subcontractors 
(providing services or receiving funding under this Agreement) to register with 
and use the E-Verify system to verify the work authorization status of all the 
subcontractors’ newly hired employees;  

(2) Secure an affidavit from all subcontractors (providing services or 
receiving funding under this Agreement) stating that the subcontractor does not 
employ, contract with, or subcontract with an unauthorized alien; 

(3) Maintain copies of all subcontractor affidavits for the duration of 
this Agreement; 

(4) Comply fully, and ensure all of its subcontractors comply fully, 
with Section 448.095, Florida Statutes;  

(5) Be aware that a violation of Section 448.09, Florida Statutes (Un-
authorized aliens; employment prohibited) shall be grounds for termination of 
this Agreement; and 

(6) Be aware that if the District terminates this Agreement under Sec-
tion 448.095(2)(c), Florida Statutes, the contractor may not be awarded a public 
contract for at least 1 year after the date on which the Agreement is terminated 
and will be liable for any additional costs incurred by the District as a result of 
the termination of the Agreement.    

 
 
(d) Conflicting Provisions.  In the event of a conflict between the terms and 

conditions set forth in the Site Contractor Agreement and the supplemental provisions 
and modifications as set forth in this Acceptance of Assignment, the terms and conditions 
of these supplemental provisions and modifications shall govern. 
 

89



DATED this ____ day of _________________________, 2024. 
 
ATTEST:      SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY 
       DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 5 

 
 

       By:       
Secretary/Assistant Secretary Print Name:   
 Chair/Vice-Chair, Board of Supervisors 

 
 
 

 
*     *     * 

90



CONSENT AND CONCURRENCE OF CONTRACTOR 
 

Guettler Brothers Construction, LLC, a Florida limited liability company, does hereby 
consent to and concur with the foregoing Assignment by Mattamy Palm Beach LLC to Southern 
Grove Community Development District No. 5 of the Site Contractor Agreement, and agrees to 
all terms and conditions of acceptance of such Assignment by District No. 5 as set forth above, 
including but not limited to the terms and conditions of the supplemental provisions and modifi-
cations to the Site Contractor Agreement. 

 
 DATED this ____ day of _________________________, 2024. 
 
Witnesses GUETTLER BROTHERS 
 CONSTRUCTION, LLC 

 
 

       By:        
Print Name:       Print Name:       
 Title:   
 
       
Print Name:       
 
 

*     *     * 

91



EXHIBIT TO ASSIGNMENT 
 

SITE CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT 

92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



114



115



116



117



118



119



120



121



122



123



124



125



126



127



128



129



130



131



132



133



134



135



136



137



138



139



140



141



142



143



144



145



146



147



148



149



150



151



152



153



154



Prepared by and return to: 
 
Christopher Staller, Esq. 
Nelson Mullin Riley & Scarborough LLP   
1905 NW Corporate Blvd., Suite 310   
Boca Raton, FL, 33431 

 
 

DRAINAGE AND IRRIGATION EASEMENT 
 

 THIS DRAINAGE AND IRRIGATION EASEMENT (“Easement”) is made and entered into 
this ___ day of ________, 2023, by and between PULTE HOME CORPORATION, a Michigan 
corporation, whose mailing address Pulte Home Corporation, 1400 Indian Creek Parkway, Jupiter, FL 
33458 (“Pulte”), DEL WEBB AT TRADITION HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION OF ST. LUCIE 
COUNTY, INC., a Florida not-for-profit corporation, whose mailing address c/o Pulte Home 
Corporation, 1400 Indian Creek Parkway, Jupiter, FL 33458 (“HOA”) and SOUTHERN GROVE 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 5, a local unit of special-purpose government 
organized and existing in accordance with Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, whose mailing address is 
10807 SW Tradition Square, Port St. Lucie, FL 34987 (“CDD”, and together collectively, the 
"Grantor") in favor of CITY OF PORT ST. LUCIE, a Florida municipal corporation, whose mailing 
address is 121 SW Port St. Lucie Boulevard, Port St. Lucie, Florida 43984 (“Grantee”).  
 

RECITALS 
 

 A. Pulte is the owner of certain land situated in St. Lucie County, Florida, being more 
particularly described on Exhibit “A” attached hereto (“Pulte Property”) and has dedicated the Pulte 
Property to HOA for the purposes of open space purposes, including drainage and maintenance 
responsibilities pursuant to the DEL WEBB AT TRADITION PLAT NO. 2, as recorded in Plat Book 
83, Page 1 of the Public Records of St. Lucie County, Florida (“Plat”);  
  

B. Pulte is the owner of certain land situated in St. Lucie County, Florida, being more 
particularly described on Exhibit “B” attached hereto (“Pond Property”) and has dedicated the Pond 
Property to CDD for the purposes of providing drainage, and surface water management pursuant to 
the Plat; 
 

C. Grantee is the owner of certain land situated in St. Lucie County, Florida, adjacent to 
the Pulte Property, being more particularly described on Exhibit “C” attached hereto (“Grantee 
Property”);  

 
D. Subject to the terms herein, Grantor has agreed to grant to Grantee a perpetual non-

exclusive perpetual drainage and irrigation easements over a portion of the Pulte Property, as more 
particularly described on Exhibit “D” attached hereto (“Easement Areas”), to allow for surface water 
and stormwater runoff from the Grantee Property through the Easement Areas into Pond Property. 

 
 AGREEMENT 

 
 NOW THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the sum of TEN AND NO/100 DOLLARS 
($10.00) and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby 
acknowledged, it is mutually covenanted and agreed by the parties hereto as follows: 

155



 
1. Recitals. The foregoing recitals are true and accurate and are incorporated herein by 

reference. 
 
2. Power and Authority.  Each party hereto represents and warrants to the other that it 

has the full right, power and authority to enter into, deliver and perform its respective obligations under 
this Easement.  

 
3. Grant of Easement.  Grantor hereby grants and conveys to Grantee, and its successors 

and assigns, a non-exclusive perpetual easement over, across, under, upon and through the Easement 
Areas for the purpose of constructing, operating, maintaining and repairing an underground storm 
water drainage pipe and other related underground equipment (“Drainage Facilities”) to allow the 
drainage, treatment, conveyance, irrigation and retention of all pre and post-development surface water 
or stormwater naturally flowing from Grantee Property, as may time to time occur. 

 
4. Temporary Construction Easement.  Grantor does hereby create, grant, convey to 

Grantee, its successors, assigns, licensees, contractors and agents, a temporary, non-exclusive 
easement, appurtenant to the Grantee Property, on, over, under, across and through the Easement Areas 
to allow Grantee to construct, install and maintain any drainage pipes and related drainage facilities 
that are reasonably necessary to be able to utilize the easement described in this Easement. The term 
of the temporary construction easement shall automatically terminate as to drainage pipes and related 
drainage facilities upon completion of drainage facilities, and Grantee agrees that all such work shall 
be pursued in a commercially reasonable manner as expeditiously as possible.  Grantee shall repair or 
pay for any damage caused by Grantee in the exercise of any rights granted by this temporary 
construction easement.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Grantee shall not unreasonably interfere with 
Grantor’s rights in and to and to use of (by Grantor, its employees, officers, directors, residents, agents 
and invitees) the temporary construction easement area.  Grantee shall be solely responsible, at its 
expense, for the maintenance of any drainage pipes and related drainage facilities that it constructs in the 
Easement Areas, but shall not otherwise have any responsibility to maintain or pay for the maintenance of 
the Easement Areas.  Further, for clarity, the Easement Areas shall not be considered “related drainage 
facilities” for purposes of Grantee’s maintenance obligations.  

 
5. Permanent Access Easement for Maintenance and Repair of Drainage Pipes and 

Facilities.  Subject to the terms of this Easement, Grantor does hereby create, grant, convey to Grantee, 
its successors, assigns, licensees, contractors and agents, a temporary, non-exclusive easement, 
appurtenant to the Grantee Property, on, over, under, across and through the Easement Areas to allow 
Grantee to access and maintain any drainage pipes and related drainage facilities constructed by or on 
behalf of Grantee in the Easement Areas as contemplated in the prior section of this Easement.   

 
6. Miscellaneous Provisions.  This Easement shall be governed by and construed in 

accordance with the Laws of the State of Florida without reference to any provision of Florida law 
which would select the laws of another jurisdiction.  Venue for any action shall be in St. Lucie County, 
Florida.  All sections and descriptive headings in this Easement are inserted for convenience only, and 
shall not affect the construction or interpretation hereof. This Easement constitutes the entire agreement 
of the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof, and may not be modified or amended except by 
a written instrument equal in dignity herewith and executed by the parties to be bound thereby. This 
Easement and all conditions, obligations and covenants set forth herein are intended to be and shall be 
construed as covenants running with the land, binding the Easement Areas and binding upon and 
inuring to the benefit of Grantor or Grantee, as the case may be, and their respective successors and 

156



assigns.  Each party will assume all liability for any injury or damage to the person or property of 
others which may occur on the Easement Areas arising from the actions of such party or its agents, 
contractors, employees or invitees, and will indemnify the other party against any such liability 
(including but not limited to reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs).  Grantor and Grantee agree that this 
Easement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original 
but all of which shall constitute one and the same Easement.  None of the terms or provisions of this 
Easement shall be deemed to create a partnership between or among the parties in their respective 
businesses or otherwise, nor shall it cause them to be considered joint venturers or members of any 
joint enterprise. Each party shall be considered a separate owner, and no party shall have the right to 
act as an agent for another party, unless expressly authorized to do so herein or by separate written 
instrument signed by the party to be charged.  This Easement may not be terminated, amended or 
modified without the approval of all parties hereto, in a written document recorded in the Public 
Records of St. Lucie County, Florida.  If any provision of this Easement or any application thereof 
shall be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, the validity, legality and enforceability of the 
remaining provisions hereof and any other application thereof shall not in any way be affected or 
impaired, and such remaining provisions shall continue in full force and effect. 

 
 

[SIGNATURES APPEAR ON FOLLOWING PAGES]  

157



[GRANTOR SIGNATURE PAGE TO DRAINAGE AND IRRIGATION EASEMENT] 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Grantor has executed this Easement as of the day and year first 
written above. 

Signed, sealed, and delivered 
in the presence of: 

 

WITNESSES: 

_________________________________ 
Name: ___________________________ 
Address:_____________________________ 
_________________________________ 
 
_________________________________ 
Name: _______________________________ 
Address:______________________________ 
_________________________________ 
 

GRANTOR: 
 
PULTE HOME CORPORATION,  
a Michigan corporation 
 
By:__________________________________ 
Name:_______________________________ 
Title:________________________________ 
 

                   
 
STATE OF _______________ 
COUNTY OF ______________ 
 

 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me, by means of ☐ physical presence or 

☐ online notarization, this _____ day of _____, 2023, by _________________, as ______________ 
of Pulte Home Corporation, a Michigan corporation. He/She (_) is personally known to me or (_) has 
produced _____________________as identification. 

 
              
        Notary Public 

      Name:      
      Commission Expires:    

 

158



[GRANTOR SIGNATURE PAGE TO DRAINAGE AND IRRIGATION EASEMENT] 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Grantor has executed this Easement as of the day and year first 
written above. 

Signed, sealed, and delivered 
in the presence of: 

 

WITNESSES: 

_________________________________ 
Name: ___________________________ 
Address:_____________________________ 
_________________________________ 
 
_________________________________ 
Name: _______________________________ 
Address:______________________________ 
_________________________________ 
 

GRANTOR: 
 
DEL WEBB AT TRADITION HOMEOWNERS 
ASSOCIATION OF ST. LUCIE COUNTY, INC., 
a Florida not-for-profit corporation 
 
By:__________________________________ 
Name:_______________________________ 
Title:________________________________ 
 

                   
 
STATE OF _______________ 
COUNTY OF ______________ 
 

 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of ☐ physical presence or 

☐ online notarization this _____ day of _____, 2023, by _______________, as ______________ of 
Del Webb at Tradition Homeowners Association of St. Lucie County, Inc., a Florida not-for-profit 
corporation.  He/She (_) is personally known to me or (_) has produced _____________________as 
identification. 

 
              
        Notary Public 

      Name:      
      Commission Expires:    

 
 

159



[GRANTOR SIGNATURE PAGE TO DRAINAGE AND IRRIGATION EASEMENT] 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Grantor has executed this Easement as of the day and year first 
written above. 

Signed, sealed, and delivered 
in the presence of: 

 

WITNESSES: 

_________________________________ 
Name: ___________________________ 
Address:_____________________________ 
_________________________________ 
 
_________________________________ 
Name: _______________________________ 
Address:______________________________ 
_________________________________ 
 

GRANTOR: 
 
SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 5 
 
 
By:__________________________________ 
Name:_______________________________ 
Title:________________________________ 
 

                   
 
STATE OF _______________ 
COUNTY OF ______________ 
 
  
 The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me, by means of ☐ physical presence or ☐ 
online notarization, this _____ day of _____, 2023, by ___________________, as ________________ 
of SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 5.  He/She (_) is 
personally known to me or (_) has produced _____________________as identification. 
 

 
              
        Notary Public 

      Name:      
      Commission Expires:    

 

160



[GRANTEE SIGNATURE PAGE TO DRAINAGE AND IRRIGATION EASEMENT] 
 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Grantee has executed this Easement as of the day and year first 
written above. 

      
Signed, sealed, and delivered 
in the presence of: 

 

WITNESSES: 

_________________________________ 
Name: ___________________________ 
Address:_____________________________ 
_________________________________ 
 
_________________________________ 
Name: _______________________________ 
Address:______________________________ 
_________________________________ 
 

GRANTEE: 
 
CITY OF PORT ST. LUCIE,  
a Florida municipal corporation 
 
By:__________________________________ 
Name:_______________________________ 
Title:________________________________ 
 

                   
 
STATE OF _______________ 
COUNTY OF ______________ 
 
  
 The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me, by means of ☐ physical presence or ☐ 
online notarization this _____ day of ___________, 2023, by __________________, as 
______________ of CITY OF PORT ST. LUCIE, a Florida municipal corporation. He/She (_) is 
personally known to me or (_) has produced _____________________as identification. 

 
              
        Notary Public 

      Name:      
      Commission Expires:    

 

 

161



 

EXHIBIT “A” 
 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF PULTE PROPERTY 
 

 
Tract L1 of DEL WEBB AT TRADITION PLAT NO. 2, as recorded in Plat Book 83, Page 1 of the 
Public Records of St. Lucie County, Florida. 
 
 
 
 

162



EXHIBIT “B” 
 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF POND PROPERTY 
 
 
Water Management Tract 1 and Water Management Tract 3 of DEL WEBB AT TRADITION PLAT 
NO. 2, as recorded in Plat Book 83, Page 1 of the Public Records of St. Lucie County, Florida. 
 
 

163



EXHIBIT “C” 
  

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF GRANTEE PROPERTY 
 

Being the land to conveyed to the City of Port St. Lucie, a Florida municipal corporation, more 
particularly described as Exhibit E in the Special Warranty Deed by Horizons Acquisition 5, LLC, a 
Florida limited liability company, recorded in Official Record Book 2899, Page 2933, of the Public 
Records of St. Lucie County, Florida. 
 
  

164



EXHIBIT “D” 
  

EASEMENT AREAS 
 

 

165



●  
●  ●

2980 SOUTH 25th STREET FORT PIERCE, FLORIDA 34981
  www.ct-eng.comFAX 772-464-9497PHONE 772-464-3537

STATE OF FLORIDA BOARD OF PROFESSIONAL
ENGINEERS AUTHORIZATION NO. 4286

EXHIBIT A
LEGAL DESCRIPTION
A PARCEL OF LAND LYING WITHIN TRACT L1, DEL WEBB AT TRADITION NO. 2 ACCORDING TO THE PLAT
THEREOF, AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 83, PAGE 1 OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF ST. LUCIE COUNTY, FLORIDA.
BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:
COMMENCE AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID PLAT OF DEL WEBB AT TRADITION NO. 2 , SAID CORNER
BEING THE INTERSECTION OF THE EAST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF COMMUNITY BOULEVARD, A 150 FOOT
RIGHT-OF-WAY AS RECORDED IN OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK 3935, PAGE 2995 WITH THE NORTH LINE OF SAID
PLAT AND BEING THE NORTH LINE OF SAID TRACT L1 AND THE BEGINNING OF A NON-TANGENT CURVE
CONCAVE TO THE SOUTHWEST, HAVING A RADIUS OF 7926.97 FEET, THE CHORD OF WHICH BEARS SOUTH
79°57'01” EAST, WITH A CHORD DISTANCE OF 470.36 FEET; THENCE SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG THE ARC OF
SAID CURVE, AND SAID NORTH LINE, THROUGH A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 3°24'01”, A DISTANCE OF 470.43 FEET
TO THE BEGINNING OF A  CURVE CONCAVE TO THE SOUTH WEST, HAVING A RADIUS OF 925.00 FEET;
THENCE SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG THE ARC OF SAID CURVE, AND SAID NORTH LINE, THROUGH A CENTRAL
ANGLE OF 4°27'06”, A DISTANCE OF 71.87 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING AND THE BEGINNING OF A
CURVE CONCAVE TO THE SOUTHWEST, HAVING A RADIUS OF 925.00 FEET; THE CHORD OF WHICH BEARS
SOUTH 73°10'44” EAST, A CHORD DISTANCE OF 20.00 FEET; THENCE ALONG THE ARC OF SAID CURVE, AND
SAID NORTH LINE, THROUGH A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 1°14'20”, A DISTANCE OF 20.00 FEET; THENCE SOUTH
16°49'16” WEST, A DISTANCE OF 50.00 FEET TO A POINT ON THE NORTH LINE OF TRACT W3, SAID DEL WEBB
AT TRADITION NO. 2 AND THE BEGINNING OF A NON-TANGENT CURVE CONCAVE TO THE SOUTHWEST,
HAVING A RADIUS OF 875.00 FEET, THE CHORD OF WHICH BEARS NORTH 73°10'44” WEST, A CHORD
DISTANCE OF 20.00  FEET; THENCE NORTHWESTERLY ALONG THE ARC OF SAID CURVE, AND SAID NORTH
LINE OF TRACT W3, THROUGH A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 1°18'35”, A DISTANCE OF 20.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH
16°49'16” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 50.00 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.
CONTAINING 0.02 ACRES MORE OR LESS.
TOGETHER WITH
A PARCEL OF LAND LYING WITHIN TRACT L1, DEL WEBB AT TRADITION NO. 2 ACCORDING TO THE PLAT
THEREOF, AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 83, PAGE 1 OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF ST. LUCIE COUNTY, FLORIDA.
BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:
COMMENCE AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID PLAT OF DEL WEBB AT TRADITION NO. 2 , SAID CORNER
BEING THE INTERSECTION OF THE EAST RIGHT -OF-WAY LINE OF COMMUNITY BOULEVARD, A 150 FOOT
RIGHT-OF-WAY AS RECORDED IN OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK 3935, PAGE 2995 WITH THE NORTH LINE OF SAID

(LEGAL DESCRIPTION CONTINUED ON SHEET 2)

NOTE: THIS IS NOT A SKETCH OF SURVEY, BUT ONLY A GRAPHIC DEPICTION OF THE DESCRIPTION
SHOWN HEREON. THERE HAS BEEN NO FIELD WORK, VIEWING OF SUBJECT PROPERTY OR
MONUMENTS SET IN CONNECTION WITH THE PREPARATION OF THE INFORMATION SHOWN HEREON.
NOTE: LANDS SHOWN HEREON WERE NOT ABSTRACTED FOR RIGHT-OF-WAY AND /OR EASEMENTS
OF RECORD

THOMAS P. KIERNAN   SIGNATURE DATE
PROFESSIONAL SURVEYOR & MAPPER
FLORIDA CERTIFICATE NO. 6199 Sheet 1 of 4

Drainage Easement
LEGAL DESCRIPTION

166



●  
●  ●

2980 SOUTH 25th STREET FORT PIERCE, FLORIDA 34981
  www.ct-eng.comFAX 772-464-9497PHONE 772-464-3537

STATE OF FLORIDA BOARD OF PROFESSIONAL
ENGINEERS AUTHORIZATION NO. 4286

EXHIBIT A
LEGAL DESCRIPTION (CONTINUED FROM SHEET 1)

PLAT AND BEING THE NORTH LINE OF SAID TRACT L1 AND THE BEGINNING OF A NON-TANGENT CURVE
CONCAVE TO THE SOUTHWEST, HAVING A RADIUS OF 7926.97 FEET, THE CHORD OF WHICH BEARS SOUTH
79°57'01” EAST, WITH A CHORD DISTANCE OF 470.36 FEET; THENCE SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG THE ARC OF
SAID CURVE, AND SAID NORTH LINE, THROUGH A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 3°24'01”, A DISTANCE OF 470.43 FEET
TO THE BEGINNING OF A  CURVE CONCAVE TO THE SOUTH WEST, HAVING A RADIUS OF 925.00 FEET;
THENCE SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG THE ARC OF SAID CURVE, AND SAID NORTH LINE, THROUGH A CENTRAL
ANGLE OF 21°52'22”, A DISTANCE OF 353.12 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 56°22'38” EAST,CONTINUING ALONG
THE NORTH LINE OF SAID TRACT L1, A DISTANCE OF 822.37 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE
SOUTH 56°22'38” EAST, ALONG SAID NORTH LINE, A DISTANCE OF 20.00 FEET;  THENCE SOUTH 33°37'22”
WEST, A DISTANCE OF 50.00 FEET TO THE NORTH LINE OF TRACT W1, SAID PLAT OF DEL WEBB AT
TRADITION NO. 2; THENCE NORTH 56°22'38” WEST, ALONG SAID NORTH LINE, A DISTANCE OF 20.00 FEET;
THENCE NORTH 33°37'22” EAST, A DISTANCE OF 50.00 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING
CONTAINING 0.02 ACRES MORE OR LESS.

TOTAL CONTAINING 0.04 ACRES MORE OR LESS.

Sheet 2 of 4

Drainage Easement
LEGAL DESCRIPTION

167



TRACT L1
DEL WEBB AT TRADITION NO. 2

(PLAT BOOK 83, PAGE 1)

OWNER: DEL WEBB AT TRADITION HOA

PID: 4322-701-0006-000-5

E/W 3 R/WEXHIBIT E
150' RIGHT-OF-WAY
 (ORB 2899, PG 2933)

R=7926.97'CB=S79°57'01"ECD=470.36'Δ=3°24'01"L=470.43'
R=925.00'Δ=4°27'06" L=71.87'

10' IQE (PB 83, PGS 1)

10' PSLUE (PB 83, PG 1)

P.O.B.

TRACT W3(WMAE/IQE)

DEL WEBB AT TRADITION NO. 2

(PLAT BOOK 83, PAGE 1)

OWNER: SOUTHERN GROVE CDD NO. 5

PID: 4322-701-0001-000-0

R=925.00'
CB=S73°10'44"E
CD=20.00'
Δ=1°14'20"
L=20.00'

S1
6°

 4
9'

 1
6"

W
50

.0
0'

R=875.00'
CB=N73°10'44"W

CD=20.00'
Δ=1°18'35"

L=20.00'

N1
6°

 4
9'

 1
6"

E
50

.0
0'

DR
AI

NA
G

E
EA

SE
M

EN
T

0.
02

 A
C±

NORTH LINE OF TRACT W3

●  
●  ●

2980 SOUTH 25th STREET FORT PIERCE, FLORIDA 34981
  www.ct-eng.comFAX 772-464-9497PHONE 772-464-3537

STATE OF FLORIDA BOARD OF PROFESSIONAL
ENGINEERS AUTHORIZATION NO. 4286

Drainage Easement
SKETCH OF DESCRIPTION

NOTE: BEARINGS SHOWN HEREON
ARE RELATIVE TO THE EAST
RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF COMMUNITY
BOULEVARD AS  DESCRIBED IN
OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK 3935, PG
2995 HAVING A BEARING OF SOUTH
00°05'34" EAST

= DELTA (CENTRAL ANGLE)
= CHORD BEARING
= CHORD DISTANCE
= HOME OWNERS ASSOCIATION
= ARC LENGTH
= ARC LENGTH
= OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK
= PARCEL IDENTIFICATION (NUMBER)
= PAGE
= POINT OF BEGINNING
= POINT OF COMMENCEMENT
= PORT ST. LUCIE UTILITY EASEMENT
= RADIUS
= WATER MANAGEMENT ACCESS EASEMENT

Δ
CB
CD

HOA
IQE

L
ORB
PID
PG

P.O.B.
P.O.C.
PSLUE

R
WMAE

LEGEND

SKETCH TO ACCOMPANY
LEGAL DESCRIPTION

THIS IS NOT A SURVEY

Sheet 3 of 4

C
O

M
M

U
N

IT
Y

 B
O

U
LE

V
A

R
D

15
0'

 R
IG

H
T-

O
F-

W
A

Y
(O

R
B

 3
93

5,
 P

G
 2

99
5)

P.O.C.
NORTHWEST CORNER OF  PLAT
OF DEL WEBB AT TRADITION
NO. 2 AND THE NORTHWEST
CORNER OF TRACT L1

EAST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE

NORTH LINE OF PLAT
AND TRACT L1

SO
U

TH
 0

0°
05

'3
4"

 W
ES

T
(B

EA
R

IN
G

 B
AS

IS
)

168



10' IQE (PB 75, PGS 4-22)

10' PSLUE (PB 75, PGS 4-22)

S56°22'38"E
822.37'

TRACT W1

(WMAE/IQE)

DEL WEBB AT TRADITION NO. 2

(PLAT BOOK 83, PAGE 1)

OWNER: SOUTHERN GROVE CDD NO. 5

PID: 4322-701-0001-000-0

TRACT L1

DEL WEBB AT TRADITION NO. 2

(PLAT BOOK 83, PAGE 1)

OWNER: DEL WEBB AT TRADITION HOA

PID: 4322-701-0006-000-5

S56° 22' 38"E
20.00'

S3
3°

 37
' 2

2"
W

50
.00

'
N56° 22' 38"W

20.00'

N3
3°

 37
' 2

2"
E

50
.00

'

P.O.B.

DR
AI

NA
GE

EA
SE

MEN
T

0.0
2 A

C±

R=7926.97'CB=NS9°57'01"ECD=470.36'
Δ=3°24'01"
L=470.43'

R=925.00'Δ=21°52'22"L=353.12'

●  
●  ●

2980 SOUTH 25th STREET FORT PIERCE, FLORIDA 34981
  www.ct-eng.comFAX 772-464-9497PHONE 772-464-3537

STATE OF FLORIDA BOARD OF PROFESSIONAL
ENGINEERS AUTHORIZATION NO. 4286

Drainage Easement
SKETCH OF DESCRIPTION

NOTE: BEARINGS SHOWN HEREON
ARE RELATIVE TO THE EAST
RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF COMMUNITY
BOULEVARD AS  DESCRIBED IN
OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK 3935, PG
2995 HAVING A BEARING OF SOUTH
00°05'34" EAST

= DELTA (CENTRAL ANGLE)
= CHORD BEARING
= CHORD DISTANCE
= HOME OWNERS ASSOCIATION
= ARC LENGTH
= ARC LENGTH
= OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK
= PARCEL IDENTIFICATION (NUMBER)
= PAGE
= POINT OF BEGINNING
= POINT OF COMMENCEMENT
= PORT ST. LUCIE UTILITY EASEMENT
= RADIUS
= WATER MANAGEMENT ACCESS EASEMENT

Δ
CB
CD

HOA
IQE

L
ORB
PID
PG

P.O.B.
P.O.C.
PSLUE

R
WMAE

LEGEND

SKETCH TO ACCOMPANY
LEGAL DESCRIPTION

THIS IS NOT A SURVEY

Sheet 4 of 4

C
O

M
M

U
N

IT
Y

 B
O

U
LE

V
A

R
D

15
0'

 R
IG

H
T-

O
F-

W
A

Y
(O

R
B

 3
93

5,
 P

G
 2

99
5)

P.O.C.
NORTHWEST CORNER OF  PLAT
OF DEL WEBB AT TRADITION
NO. 2 AND THE NORTHWEST
CORNER OF TRACT L1

EAST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE

NORTH LINE OF PLATAND TRACT L1

SO
U

TH
 0

0°
05

'3
4"

 W
ES

T
(B

EA
R

IN
G

 B
AS

IS
)

NORTH LINE OF PLAT

AND TRACT L1

NORTH LINE OF PLAT

AND TRACT W1

169


	Cover Page 
	Agenda 
	Proof of Publication
	Resolution No. 2024-01; CDD Nos. 1,2,3,4,5,6,&9
	Minutes 11.1.23
	WA#19-144-212; Grove Plat 45
	WA#19-144-213; Hegener Drive Ext
	Bond Req No. 15
	Bond Req No. 16
	Bond Req No. 17
	Engagement Letter - Bond Counsel - CDD No. 5 (2024 Bonds)
	Memo No. 24-01; Voting Conflict of Insterest; Supervisors
	Stars & Strips Park Improvement & Art Donation Agreement 
	Assisgnment of Site Contractor Agreement - CDD No. 5 - Marshall Park 3 (2022 Projects)
	Drainage & Irrigation Easement; CDD No. 5



